
  

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA 
 

 
AGENDA 

City Council Meeting 
 

Monday, March 6, 2017 – 7:00 p.m.  
 

City Hall Council Chambers 
5800 Melaleuca Lane 

 
 

 
Mayor and City Council 

 
Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor 

 
Jonathan G. Pearce, Deputy Mayor  District IV 
Lisa Rivera, Councilwoman   District I 

  Peter A. Noble, Councilman   District II 
  Judith Dugo, Councilwoman   District III 

Paula Bousquet, Councilwoman  District V 
 

Administration 
 

Andrea McCue, City Manager 
James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 

 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA), this document can be made available in an alternate format (large print) upon request.  Special 
accommodations can be provided upon request with three (3) days advance notice of any meeting, by 
contacting City Clerk Joanna Cunningham at Greenacres City Hall, 5800 Melaleuca Lane, Greenacres, 
Florida. Phone No. 561-642-2006.  Hearing Assistance:  If any person wishes to use a Listen Aid Hearing 
Device, please contact the City Clerk prior to any meeting held in the Council Chambers. 
 
Attention All Lobbyists:  Palm Beach County Code of Ordinances, Article VIII, entitled “Lobbyist 
Registration” requires the registration of all lobbyists prior to engaging in any lobbying activity with the City 
Council, any City Board or Committee, or any employee as defined in the aforementioned Palm Beach 
County Ordinance.  Copies of the Palm Beach County Ordinance are available upon request in the City 
Clerk’s Office. 
 

 
Web Site:  http://www.ci.greenacres.fl.us 

 



City Council Meeting – 03-06-2017       Page 2 
 

Agenda 
City Council Meeting 

Monday, March 6, 2017 - 7:00 p.m. 
 
Notice:  Any person requesting the appeal of a decision of the City Council will require a verbatim record of 
the proceedings and for that purpose will need to ensure that such verbatim record is made.  Pursuant to 
F.S. 286.0105, the record must include the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  
The City of Greenacres does not prepare or provide such verbatim record. 

 
1. Call To Order and Roll Call. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
3. Comments From the Public for Agenda Items Only. 
 
4. Agenda Approval. 
 

A. Additions, deletions, or substitutions to the Agenda. 
 

B. Motion to approve and adopt entire agenda as set. 
 

5. Special Business.  
 

A. Proclamation: “Public Procurement Recognition Month” for March 2017 - 
Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor. 
 

B. Proclamation: “Problem Gambling Awareness Month” for March 2017 - 
Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor. 
 

6. Consent Agenda. 
 

A. Motion to Approve Consent Agenda. 
 
1. Official Minutes: City Council Meeting of February 6, 2017 –Joanna 

Cunningham, City Clerk. 
 

2. Resolution No. 2017-01: a Resolution abandoning and vacating a 
portion of a 20-foot utility easement located on the plat of Riverbridge 
Centre, as recorded in Plat Book 53, pages 186 and 187 of the 
Official Records of Palm Beach County, Florida, as requested by 
Bohler Engineering, agent for the owner, MSKP River Bridge; 
providing for repeal of conflicting Resolutions; providing for 
severability; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff 
Memo. – Kara Irwin-Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering 
Director.   

  
3. Resolution No. 2017-05: a Resolution commending the Florida 

Association of City Clerks for its 45th Anniversary – Joanna 
Cunningham, City Clerk. 

file://chfile/Inter-Departments/Agendas%20(City%20Council)/2016/01-04-16/6.A.1%2012-12-15%20Council%20Minutes-Draft.pdf


City Council Meeting – 03-06-2017       Page 3 
 

 
7. Regular Agenda. 
  

A. PUBLIC HEARING: Ordinance No. 2017-02: First Reading; an 
Ordinance amending Chapter 16, Article VI, Sign Regulations, 
Division 1, generally, Section 16-934, and Division 4, Sign 
Standards, Sections 16-985; to update and clarify the zoning code; 
providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances; providing for 
severability; providing for inclusion in code; and providing for an 
effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report –Kara Irwin-
Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director  

 
B. PUBLIC HEARING: Ordinance No. 2017-04: First Reading; an 

Ordinance amending the Capital Improvement Element of the City's 
Comprehensive Plan to reflect recent changes, as requested by the 
Planning and Engineering Department; providing for repeal of 
conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; providing for 
transmittal to the Division of Community Development; providing for 
inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan; and providing for an effective 
date; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report. - Kara Irwin Ferris, 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director. 

 
C. PUBLIC HEARING: Resolution No. 2017-07: A Resolution 

approving the application for a Special Exception to allow a 
convenience store with fuel sales in a Commercial Intensive (CI) 
Zoning District, located on the northwest corner of Lake Worth Road 
and Sherwood Forest Blvd at 6025 Lake Worth Road, as requested 
by the petitioner, Wantman Group, Inc., agent for the owner, 
RaceTrac Petroleum, Inc.; providing for repeal of conflicting 
resolutions; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff 
Memo and Staff Report – Kara Irwin Ferris, Acting Planning and 
Engineering Director. 

 
D.      Site Plan Approval (SP-16-02): Site Plan Approval for the RaceTrac 

Market located on the northwest corner of Lake worth Road and 
Sherwood Forest Boulevard at 6025 Lake Worth Road and 
Sherwood Plaza; pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report – Kara 
Irwin-Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director.  

 
E.      Site Plan Amendment (SP-84-05G): Site Plan Amendment for 

Buttonwood Plaza (Dunkin Donuts) located at 3098 S. Jog Road 
pursuant to Staff Memo and Staff Report. – Kara Irwin-Ferris, acting 
Planning and Engineering Director.  

 
F.      Resolution No. 2017-08: A Resolution authorizing the execution of 

the FY 2016-2017 Interlocal Agreement between Palm Beach 
County and the City of Greenacres for the full reimbursement of 
Emergency Medical Services Grant Equipment in the amount of 
$21,478.00; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff 
Memo. – Mark Pure, Fire Chief. 

file://chfile/Inter-Departments/Agendas%20(City%20Council)/2016/01-04-16/7.B.2%20Ord.%202016-06%20Ch.%204%20Burglar%20Alarms.pdf


City Council Meeting – 03-06-2017       Page 4 
 

 
8. Comments from the Public. 
 
9. Discussion Items:  
 

A. Resign to Run Vacancy Discussion – James Stokes, City Attorney.  
   
10. Staff Comments. 
 
 A. City Manager’s Report. 
 
 B. City Attorney’s Report. 
 
11. Mayor and City Council Reports. 
 
12. Adjournment. 
 

NOTICE OF COUNCIL MEETINGS AND AGENDAS 
The first and third Monday of each month are regular meeting dates for the City Council; special or workshop 
meetings  may be called on the second and fourth Mondays of the month, or whenever necessary.  Council 
Agendas are posted on the City’s website on the Friday prior to each Council meeting.  A public copy of the 
complete agenda is also available for review in the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall.  Questions regarding the 
agenda should be directed to the City Clerk at 642-2006. 

 
March  2017 - Calendar of Meetings and Events 

 
03-07-17 Zoning  Board of Adjustments & Appeals Meeting 7:00 p.m. 
03-14-17 Election Day  . 
03-15-17 Code Enforcement Board 3:00 p.m. 
03-15-17 Planning Commission Meeting 7:00 p.m. 
03-16-17 Charter Review Committee 10:30 a.m. 

03-20-17 City Council Meeting 
Oath of Office- Mayor and Council 7:00 p.m. 

03-28-17 Zoning  Board of Adjustments & Appeals Meeting Tentative 
 

April  2017 - Calendar of Meetings and Events 
 

04-03-17 Board Appreciation Reception &City Council Meeting 6:00 p.m. 
04-05-17 Planning Commission Meeting 7:00 p.m. 
04-06-17 Charter Review Committee 5:30 p.m. 
04-17-17 City Council Meeting 7:00 p.m. 
04-19-17 Planning Commission Meeting 7:00 p.m. 
04-20-17 Charter Review Committee 10:30 a.m. 
04-25-17 Zoning  Board of Adjustments & Appeals Meeting Tentative 

 



 

 Lisa Rivera 
Councilwoman  District I 

Peter A. Noble 
Councilman  District II 

Judith Dugo 
Councilwoman  District III 

Jonathan G. Pearce 
Councilman  District IV 

Paula Bousquet 
Councilwoman  District V 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, PROCLAIMING 
“PUBLIC PROCUREMENT RECOGNITION MONTH” FOR MARCH, 2017. 

 
WHEREAS, the public procurement profession plays a significant role in the 

efficiency and effectiveness of both government and business; and 
WHEREAS, in addition to the purchase of goods and services, the Greenacres 

Purchasing Division adds value to the organization by performing such functions as 
reviewing requests for materials and services for quality and cost effectiveness through the 
requirements of Florida Statutes and the City’s Purchasing Policy, and obtain proper 
authorization to conservatively spend taxpayer’s dollars in accordance with an approved 
budget; and 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Division is committed to providing high caliber strategic, 
logistical and operational support to all departments within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Division and the City of Greenacres recognize, support, 
and practice the public procurement values and guiding principles of accountability, ethics, 
impartiality, professionalism, service and transparency, established by the National Institute 
of Governmental Purchasing (NIGP) – The Institute for Public Procurement, as 
fundamental tenants of the public procurement profession; and 

WHEREAS, the NIGP has proclaimed the month of March as “Public Procurement 
Recognition Month” to further expand the awareness of the purchasing professionals’ role 
to governmental officials, the general public, business and corporate leaders. 
 NOW, THEREFORE, I, Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor of the City of Greenacres, do 
hereby proclaim “Public Procurement Recognition Month” for March, 2017 in the City of 
Greenacres, Florida, and urge residents to acknowledge and appreciate the due diligence 
of the purchasing professionals of the City who oversee and administer our purchasing 
principles, policies, and practices.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Given under my Hand and Seal of the City of 
Greenacres, Florida, this 6th day of March, 
2017. 
 
       
Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
       
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 



 
 

Lisa M. Rivera 
Councilwoman  District I 

Peter A. Noble 
Councilman  District II 

Judith Dugo 
Councilwoman  District III 

Jonathan G. Pearce 
Councilman  District IV 

Paula Bousquet 
Councilwoman  District V 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, PROCLAIMING 
“PROBLEM GAMBLING AWARENESS MONTH” FOR MARCH, 2017. 

 
WHEREAS, the National Council on Problem Gambling has designated March 2017 as 

Problem Gambling Awareness Month; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres desires to demonstrate its support in addressing problem 
gambling and to support the initiative of the Florida Council on Compulsive Gambling to bring 
awareness to the issues surrounding problem gambling in our community; and 

 WHEREAS, problem gambling is a public health issue which impacts family, friends and 
businesses with significant societal and economic costs, affecting more than one million Floridians of 
all ages, races and ethnic backgrounds in all communities; and 

 WHEREAS, each problem gambler directly affects 8-10 other individuals with negative 
consequences to personal and social relationships; and 

 WHEREAS, the Florida Council on Compulsive Gambling’s public awareness campaign 
provides an opportunity to educate the public, policymakers, educators, businesses, mental health 
providers, criminal justice professionals and others, about the adverse effects of gambling, its social, 
legal, financial and emotional impacts, as well as available treatment; and  

 WHEREAS, problem gambling is treatable for those who seek help minimizing the harm to 
individuals and to society as a whole; and  

 WHEREAS, numerous individuals, professionals, and organizations who are dedicated to 
assisting families in need can participate in preventing problem gambling by promoting the statewide 
24-hour HelpLine 888-ADMIT-IT, and by making assessments and treatment readily available. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, I, Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor of the City of Greenacres, hereby proclaim 
March 2017 as “Problem Gambling Awareness Month” and urge all citizens to help guide those 
affected by this destructive behavior to seek treatment. 
 

       
               
                         
               
         
 
               
 
              Attest: 
          

Given under my Hand and Seal of the City of 
Greenacres, Florida this 6th day of March, 
2017. 
 
 
Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor 
 
Attest: 

 
Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk  



 

 
 

OFFICIAL MINUTES 
 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
5800 Melaleuca Lane 

Greenacres, FL  33463 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Monday, February 6, 2017 - 7:00 P.M. 

 
1. Call To Order and Roll Call. 
 

Mayor Ferreri called the City Council Meeting of Monday, February 6, 2017 to order at 7:00 p.m.  
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham called the roll. 
 
ROLL CALL: 

 
Council Present: Staff Present: 
   Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor    Andrea McCue, City Manager 
   Jonathan G. Pearce, Deputy Mayor    James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
   Lisa Rivera, Councilwoman    Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
   Peter A. Noble, Councilman    Michael Grimm, Director/Building 
   Judith Dugo, Councilwoman    Jim McInnis, Director/Finance 
   Paula Bousquet, Councilwoman    Kara Ferris, Acting Director/Planning & Engineering 
    Mark Pure, Fire Chief/Fire Rescue Department 
Attendees from Public: 12    Suzanne Skidmore, Director/Human Resources 
Press:  1    Carlos Cedeño, Director/Public Works 
    Suzanne Skidmore, Director/Human Resources 
    Melody Larson, Assistant to the City Clerk 
    Capt. Sean Murray/PBSO 
    Maj. Steve Martino/PBSO 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 
Mayor Samuel J. Ferreri led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
3. Comments From the Public for Agenda Items Only. 
 

Mayor Ferreri asked if there were comments from the public; hearing none, he continued 
with the Agenda. 

 
4. Agenda Approval. 
  

A. Additions, deletions, or substitutions to the Agenda. 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 2 

B. Motion to approve and adopt entire agenda as set. 
 

Mayor Ferreri inquired if there were any additions, deletions or substitutions to the 
Agenda; hearing none, he called for a motion. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Pearce, Councilwoman Rivera, 
Councilman Noble, Councilwoman Dugo, and 
Councilwoman Bousquet.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
  
5. Special Business.  
  

A. Proclamation: “Hands Only CPR Day” for February 11, 2017 - Samuel J. Ferreri, 
Mayor. 
  
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read the proclamation into the record. 

 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Pearce, Councilwoman Rivera, 
Councilman Noble, Councilwoman Dugo, and 
Councilwoman Bousquet.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
  

 
B. Proclamation: “Random Acts of Kindness Week” for February 12-18, 2017 – 

Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor.  
 

City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read the proclamation into the record. 
  

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Pearce, Councilwoman Rivera, 
Councilman Noble, Councilwoman Dugo, and 
Councilwoman Bousquet.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
  

MOTION: Councilwoman Rivera made a motion to approve the Agenda as 
presented.  Councilwoman Dugo seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Councilwoman Dugo a made a motion to proclaim February 11, 
2017 as “Hands Only CPR Day”.  Councilwoman Bousquet 
seconded the motion. 

 

MOTION: Councilwoman Bousquet a made a motion to proclaim the week 
of February 12-18, 2017 as “Random Acts of Kindness Week”.  
Councilwoman Dugo seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 3 

 
C. Proclamation: “Pink Shirt Day” for February 22, 2017 – Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor. 

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read the proclamation into the record. 

  

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Pearce, Councilwoman Rivera, 
Councilman Noble, Councilwoman Dugo, and 
Councilwoman Bousquet.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
  
6. Consent Agenda. 
 

A. Mayor Ferreri asked Council if they wished to pull any of the six (6) Consent 
Agenda items; hearing none, he called for a motion. 
 
1. Official Minutes: City Council Meeting of January 23, 2017 –Joanna 

Cunningham, City Clerk. 
 

2. Resolution No. 2017-09 - A Resolution adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Greenacres, Florida, authorizing the Traffic Control Jurisdiction 
Agreement, Exhibit “A”, between the City of Greenacres – Palm Beach 
County Sheriff’s Office (PBSO) District 16, and the Harvest Pines 
Homeowners Association, located on the south side of Melaleuca Lane 
approximately 1,350 feet east of Sherwood Forest Boulevard; and 
authorizing the appropriate City officials to execute the Traffic Control 
Jurisdiction Agreement; pursuant to Staff Memo – Kara Irwin-Ferris, Acting 
Planning and Engineering Director. 

 
3. Las Ramblas Plat Approval (SP-15-03) –Plat approval for the Las 

Ramblas development located approximately 630 feet west of South Jog 
Road adjacent to Ramblewood Court; pursuant to Staff Memo. Kara Irwin-
Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director. 
 

4. Santa Catalina Plat Approval (SP-15-04) –Plat approval for the Santa 
Catalina development located on the northwest corner of South Jog Road 
and Jog Park Drive at 3145, 3197, and 3229 South Jog Road; pursuant to 
Staff Memo - Kara Irwin-Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director. 
 

5. Board Appointments- Charter Review Committee Appointments by 
Councilwoman Paula Bousquet and Mayor Samuel Ferreri. pursuant to 
Staff Memo – Andrea McCue, City Manager. 
 

MOTION: Councilwoman Rivera made a motion to proclaim February 22, 
2017 as “Pink Shirt Day”.  Councilman Noble seconded the 
motion. 

 

file://///chfile/Inter-Departments/Agendas%20(City%20Council)/2016/01-04-16/6.A.1%2012-12-15%20Council%20Minutes-Draft.pdf


City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 4 

6. Request for Use - “Harmony in the Streets” – Granting PBSO the use 
of the Leisure Services Bus for “Harmony in the Streets”; pursuant to Staff 
Memo – Michelle Thompson, Leisure Services Director. 

 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION: 

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Pearce, Councilwoman 
Rivera, Councilman Noble, Councilwoman 
Dugo, and Councilwoman Bousquet.   
 

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
 

7. Regular Agenda: 
 

A. PUBLIC HEARING Ordinance No.2017-01: Second Reading; Amending Chapter 14, 
Traffic and Vehicles, Article I entitled “In General” and Article II entitled “Stopping, 
Standing, Parking” and repeal of Article III of the City of Greenacres Code of 
Ordinances providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances; providing for severability; 
providing for inclusion in Code; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff 
Memo – Michael Grimm, Building Director. 

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-01 into the record on second 
reading. 
 
Building Director Michael Grimm reported that this code amendment regulates the 
parking and storage of vehicles and vessels for the purpose of preserving the 
aesthetics and character of the City.  This amendment was required due to the recent 
PBSO merger and the implementation of a new citation system.  This Ordinance 
passed on first reading on January 23, 2017 with no recommended changes; 
therefore, staff recommended approval of Ordinance No. 2017-01. 
 
Mayor Ferreri called on Councilmembers for comments; hearing none, he opened the 
meeting to the public.  He asked if anyone was in favor of, or opposed to, Ordinance 
No. 2017-01 to come forward.  Seeing no one come forward, he closed the meeting to 
the public and called for a motion. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Deputy Mayor Pearce, Councilwoman Rivera, 
Councilman Noble, Councilwoman Dugo, and 
Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion carried: 5 - 0. 
  

MOTION: Councilwoman Bousquet made a motion to approve 
the six (6) Consent Agenda items.  Councilwoman 
Dugo seconded the motion.   
 

MOTION: Councilman Noble made a motion to approve 
Ordinance No. 2017-01 on second reading.  
Councilwoman Rivera seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 5 

B. Ordinance No. 2017-06: First Reading; Amending Article II, Sec. 2-26 and Sec. 2-
27, of the Greenacres Code of Ordinances, increasing the compensation of the Mayor 
and members of the City Council; providing for a cost of living; providing for certain 
benefits; providing for a repealer; providing for severability; providing for inclusion in 
the Code; and providing for an effective date; pursuant to Staff Memo – James D. 
Stokes. City Attorney. 

 
City Clerk Joanna Cunningham read Ordinance No. 2017-06 into the record on first 
reading. 

 
On January 23, 2017, based on Council direction, City Attorney James Stokes 
presented a salary comparison for Mayor and Council salaries of surrounding 
municipalities in Palm Beach County that showed Greenacres as one of the lowest 
paid.  Ordinance No. 2017-06 combines salaries and expenses.  Section 2-27 provides 
health insurance benefits and a health insurance opt out provision.  City Attorney 
Stokes noted that a budget adjustment to the 2017 budget would be required.   
 
Mayor Ferreri questioned the cost of the budget adjustment and noted that the Charter 
states Council cannot receive a salary increase until the next election cycle. 
 
City Attorney Stokes estimated that an initial increase of $32,000 would be added to 
the 2017 budget for the remaining 6 months of FY 2017.  He disagreed with the 
Mayor’s interpretation of the Charter; no individual member can enact any changes.  
His personal interpretation is that the increase cannot take effect during the term of 
the members passing the increase.  He stated it would be inequitable to provide half 
of Council $20,000 and the other half $6,000.  He explained that Ordinance No. 2017-
06 provides the increase for Mayor and Council after the next municipal election and 
is in line with how the increase was budgeted. 
 
Councilmembers discussed compensating elected officials; being civil servants; prior 
elections; attracting quality elected officials by offering competitive salaries; the 
responsibilities of elected officials; historically Councilmembers having to wait until 
their next election to receive salary increases; serving the community; elected officials 
doing this job to make a difference for the City and their respective districts; the time 
spent is tremendous; volunteerism, and those elected officials who do not feel a need 
for an increase do not have to receive one. 
 
Mayor Ferreri called for a motion. 

VOTE ON  
THE MOTION:  

In Favor: Councilman Noble and Councilwoman Dugo. 
Opposed: Deputy Mayor Pearce, Councilwoman 
Rivera and Councilwoman Bousquet.  
  

 Motion failed: 3- 2. 
 

MOTION: Councilwoman Dugo made a motion to approve 
Ordinance 2017-06 on first reading as presented by 
staff.  Councilman Noble seconded the motion. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 6 

C. Presentation on Building Height and Sign Code Changes – Kara Irwin Ferris, 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director Kara Ferris noted that the proposed zoning 
text amendments resulted from Council direction during the October 24, 2016 City 
Council Workshop. 
 
Sign Code Amendment (ZTA-16-04)   
 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director Ferris noted that this amendment would be 
addressing LED changeable copy signs and wall signs.  LED changeable copy signs 
are being proposed for government use only, for public purposes only and allowing 
only non-commercial messages.  Exceptions include time/temperature signs, gas 
station price signs and ground signs for government use in Government Use (GU 
zoning districts.  Increased logo areas, multiple colors and trademark designs are also 
being proposed.   
 
Identification sign height limitations and permitted zoning districts: 

 Time and temperature signs: Not to exceed 2 feet in height, permitted at banks 
and financial institutions with drive-thru’s. and are permitted in Commercial 
General (CG) and Commercial Intensive (CI) districts. 

 Gas station signs: Not to exceed 12 feet in height in CG and CI districts. 
 

New language is being added to Sec. 16-985 Identification Signs to include multiple 
colors, fonts and logos as part of a theme while maintaining architectural consistency. 
 
Proposed language increasing the logo area from 25% to 50% for building wall signs 
is being added with logos not to exceed the total height of the sign and shall meet 
distance requirements from the premise area.   
 
These proposed changes are to meet the current standards of technology and provide 
branding and public messaging. 
 
This code amendment is scheduled for review by the Planning Commission on 
February 15, 2017. 

 
Mayor Ferreri called on Councilmembers for comments. 
 
Councilwoman Dugo questioned signs for churches and Councilwoman Rivera asked 
about the status of the electronic marquis.   
 
City Manager Andrea McCue reported that a bid for the electronic marquis will be 
prepared following adoption of these proposed zoning text amendments. 
 
Mayor Ferreri suggested adding language prohibiting sponsorship language on LED 
electronic copy signs to prevent free advertising.   

  



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 7 

 
Increased Building Height Regulations (ZTA-16-05) 
 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director Ferris noted the current maximum building 
height of 35 feet in all zoning districts.  This amendment resulted from several lost 
opportunities for development due to current Code restrictions.  Increased building 
heights impact fire rescue demands, adjacent residential structures, Floor Area Ratio 
in the City’s Comprehensive Plan and new development next to existing 
neighborhoods.  Staff looked at placing increased height requirements in the Lake 
Worth Road Corridor in CG and CI zoning districts and along South Jog Road in the 
Mixed-Use-Office (MXD-O) zoning district.   
 
Past discussions included increasing the maximum building height to six (6) stories 
together with design considerations, creating categories, terrracing or step back 
techniques, scale, creating a new zoning category, overlay zoning category or 
modifying existing zoning districts. 

 
Staff proposes creating an overlay district specifically for Residential High (RH), 
Commercial Intensive (CI) and Mixed Use Development-Office (MXD-O) zoning 
districts with a maximum 6-story height restriction for specific uses with setbacks, 
terracing and increased landscape buffers.   
 
This zoning text amendment is scheduled for review by the Planning Commission in 
March 2017. 
 
Mayor Ferreri called on Councilmembers for comments. 
 
The Mayor and Councilmembers discussed elevators; open parking garages, fire 
lanes, establishing a maximum height (not just number of stories), use test sites 
checking setbacks, shade/shadow, place 6-story building along Lake Worth Road and 
South Military Trail and the 5-story buildings along South Jog Road to maintain 
character; the intent is to increase economic development while protecting residential 
properties; the City landscaping codes being uninviting to certain developers; 
balancing higher development with adjacent residential properties; a City department 
attracting new business; look at purchasing a large tract of land next to Freedom Park 
for national volleyball courts.  
 

8. Comments from the Public.  None. 
  
9. Discussion Items:   
  

A. Rambo Park Community Meeting Update – Carlos Cedeño, Public Works 
Director.  

 
  Public Works Director Carlos Cedeño reported 22 residents in attendance at the 

Community Meeting held on January 25, 2017 at Rambo Park.  Topics ranged from 
additional lighting in the park, court usage, trimming back trees, fencing, criminal 
activities and expanding the parking lot.  He reported meeting with a lighting consultant 
to improve safety and a purchase order has been prepared to raise the electrical box 
in the northeast corner of the fence to prevent liability.   

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 8 

  Rambo Park is a heavily used park.  Many residents agreed that the parking lot 
expansion is needed. One option is to install slanted parking. Public Works Director 
Cedeño noted that with Council approval, staff could proceed with hiring an 
engineering consultant to reconfigure/expand the parking lots at Rambo Park and the 
former City Hall building.  Overall, residents liked attending and wanted to see more 
community meetings held quarterly or bi-annually.  

 
  Councilmembers commented on basketball pick-up games played on Monday nights; 

the tennis courts being used as a soccer field; inviting Benjamin Wade to a future 
Council meeting to discuss proposed improvements, non-residents using City courts, 
consider repairing the tennis courts or convert the tennis courts into a soccer field, 
PBSO must remedy criminal activity prior to making any improvements visit 
neighboring communities next to other City parks to get resident feedback, liability, all 
City parks should be reviewed for restructuring not just parks in one district, lighting 
timers past 10:00 p.m., Pine Ridge South III residents seeing kids jump the wall to the 
park; municipalities eliminating tennis courts at smaller parks and building tennis 
centers, deciding on improvements at Rambo Park and holding a Council workshop to 
look at other City parks; have staff do further research on other City park assets, 
basketball being a big parking generator; move basketball playing to other parks with 
supervision; the two biggest basketball playing parks are Burrowing Owl and Rambo 
Park; converting shuffleboard courts to basketball courts. 

 
Public Works Director Cedeño explained that it is an ongoing battle to maintain the 
tennis poles.  Community interest has changed from tennis to soccer.  In order to 
convert the tennis courts to a soccer field, a rubber surface and additional fencing 
would be needed.  It would be a capital improvement undertaking and would require 
further research. As for reports of criminal activities, residents are encouraged to call 
if they see something. 
 
Ola Sierra, resident of 38th Street, commented that the tennis courts were not being 
used and that soccer was played more frequently.  She disagreed with Deputy Mayor 
Pearce’s earlier comments about tennis and pointed out that basketball and soccer 
are more prevalent.   
 
Deputy Mayor Pearce noted that the residents who live along 57th Avenue were 
concerned over the frequent break-ins as recorded by home security systems.  Now 
with soccer and basketball being played at Rambo Park, it increased their level of 
concern. 
 
Ms. Sierra [inaudible]. 

 
Deputy Mayor Pearce pointed out that two years earlier, the issue wasn’t insufficient 
parking, it was loitering after the park was closed and drug activities. 
 
Councilwoman Bousquet asked PBSO Capt. Sean Murray if Rambo Park suffers a 
disproportionate level of crime than other parks.   
 
Capt. Murray reported that drug activity levels were even throughout the City.  Activity 
at Rambo Park consists mainly of juvenile activities.  He urged residents that see 
something, to say something. 

 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 9 

Mayor Ferreri emphasized the need to look at other basketball facilities in the City and 
direct the players to those locations.  This would eliminate the need to add more 
parking at Rambo Park.  He urged staff to check the surveillance cameras. 
 
Discussion among the Mayor, Councilmembers and staff followed on the various City 
parks that provide basketball courts and soccer fields; confirm if the tennis courts at 
Rambo Park were built with FRDAP grant funds and if so, notify the state of the City’s 
proposed intent to convert it to a soccer field; calculate the size of soccer fields and 
consider indoor soccer; determine the exact use of Rambo Park.  
 
Mayor Ferreri directed staff to survey other City parks with basketball courts that 
provide sufficient parking and review their utilization.  If space is available, move 
basketball traffic to those parks.  Look at availability on Monday nights at those parks. 
 
City Manager Andrea McCue noted that staff would assess park usage and provide a 
recommendation to Council.  

 
B.      Board Appointment- Board of Trustees Member – Andrea McCue, City Manager. 

 
City Manager McCue reminded Mayor and Council that a memorandum would be 
forthcoming announcing an open nomination period to fill a PSO/FF Board of Trustees 
vacancy.  She emphasized that a City employee who is a resident could be appointed 
to the board.  The next meeting is scheduled for March 6th. 

   
C. Interlocal Agreement for Fire Protection and Emergency Medical Services  

between the City of Greenacres and the City of Atlantis – Andrea McCue, City 
Manager. 

 
City Manager McCue reported that Deputy Mayor Pearce had requested a review of 
the Greenacres/Atlantis Interlocal agreement for fire protection and EMS services to 
determine Atlantis’ responsibilities.  She noted on Page 3, Section 4B, Greenacres will 
provide training, equipment, and personnel and on Page 5 are the terms and 
associated costs; however, other than the items listed, the agreement does not state 
that Atlantis will provide anything additional. 

 
Deputy Mayor Pearce was concerned that there was no provision to cover the cost of 
a ladder truck and asked if any of the monies received from Atlantis were being set 
aside for future purchases.  He wanted to ensure that upon renewing the Interlocal 
agreement with Atlantis in 2020, the cost of equipment would be added. 
 
Mayor Ferreri noted that due to Atlantis’ tax base, they chose to contract with the City 
since their only other option was to contract with the County.  He cautioned against 
increasing the cost of the contract considerably otherwide Greenacres residents would 
end up paying the difference.  He estimated that the cost to run Station 2 is 
approximately the same, with or without the Interlocal agreement. 

 
10. Staff Comments: 

 
A. City Manager’s Report  

 
CPR Training 



City Council Meeting                                                                                                      February 6, 2017 

Page 10 

 
City Manager McCue announced that in conjunction with the countywide 
CPR day, CPR training will be provided at Station 94 on South Jog Road, 
Saturday, February 11th between 9:00 a.m.- 12:00 p.m. and is open to the 
public.  

 
Automated External Defibrillator (A.E.D.) 
 
AED devices are being installed through City Hall and City buildings and 
employee training will be provided. 

 
B.  City Attorney’s Report.  None. 
 

11. Mayor and City Council Reports. 
 

Councilwoman Rivera 
 
She asked Mr. Cedeño about the rubberized surface area for the playground that 
was discussed during the Community Meeting at Rambo Park.  He explained that 
it is scheduled in future years and is part of the City’s maintenance program at all 
City parks.   
 
Councilwoman Dugo 
 
She asked staff to provide an account of frequency and income for court rentals. 

 
12. Adjournment.  
 

Councilwoman Bousquet moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Councilwoman 
Dugo.  The meeting adjourned at 9:02 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL    Respectfully submitted, 
    
 
 
_____________________________  ________________________________ 
Samuel J. Ferreri    Joanna Cunningham, MMC 
Mayor      City Clerk  

 
Date Approved: __________________ 

/mel   















RESOLUTION NO. 2017-01 

 
   
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, ABANDONING AND VACATING A PORTION OF 
A 20-FOOT UTILITY EASEMENT LOCATED ON THE PLAT OF 
RIVERBRIDGE CENTRE, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 53, PAGES 186 
AND 187 OF THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF PALM BEACH COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, AS REQUESTED BY BOHLER ENGINEERING, AGENT FOR 
THE OWNER, MSKP RIVER BRIDGE; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING RESOLUTIONS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.   
 
WHEREAS, a portion of a twenty foot wide easement was provided in the River Bridge 

Centre plat as recorded in Plat Book 53, Pages 186 and 187 of the Public Records of Palm 

Beach County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, said easements on River Bridge Centre plat, have become obsolete due 

to the fact that the existing drainage system will not use this easement; and 

 WHEREAS, the property owner MSKP River Bridge, LLC, wishes to construct a 

building expansion; and 

WHEREAS, the affected utility company, Palm Beach County Water Utilities 

Department, has agreed to the abandonment and relocation of the said drainage easement; 

and  

WHEREAS, the drainage easement is not necessary for the construction or 

maintenance of a private drainage system on private property under single ownership. 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT:  



Resolution No. 2017-01                                                                                                Page 2 

 Section 1. A portion of a twenty foot utility easement located on the existing property 

are hereby abandoned and vacated by the City of Greenacres. Said utility easement is shown 

on Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 

 Section 2.  Repeal of Conflicting Resolutions. 

All resolutions or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with the 

provisions of this resolution are hereby repealed. 

 Section 3.  Severability. 

If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Resolution is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, such 

holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Resolution and it shall be 

construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Resolution without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Resolution after 

the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or parts 

had not been included therein, or if this Resolution or any of the provisions thereof shall be 

held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, circumstances, 

or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability thereof to any other 

person, property or circumstances. 

Section 4.  Effective Date. 

The provisions of this Resolution shall become effective five (5) days after it is adopted. 

 

 

  



Resolution No. 2017-01                                                                                                Page 3 

 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 6th day of March, 2017. 

           Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Samuel J. Ferreri     Jonathan G. Pearce 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk      Councilwoman, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Councilman, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Paula Bousquet 
       Councilwoman, District V 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 

















 
 

CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

Council Agenda Memo 
2017.01KF03.005 

 
 
TO:  Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution No. 2017-01, AB-16-02 
  Utility Easement Abandonment for River Bridge Centre 

City Council Agenda Item for 03-06-17 
  
DATE:  February 27, 2017 
 
COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
  Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
  File:  AB-16-02  
 
 
 
Background: 
 
Bohler Engineering, as agent for MSKP Riverbridge, LLC., is requesting to abandon a 
portion of a 20-foot utility easement as shown on the Plat of the River Bridge Centre, as 
recorded in Plat Book 53, Pages 186 through 187, of the public records of Palm Beach 
County. The site is located on the southwest corner of the intersection of Forest Hill and 
Jog Road. 
 
Analysis: 
 
The easement abandonment and relocation are necessary in order to allow a building 
expansion for the proposed retail use.  The formal abandonment of the easement will 
have no negative impact on the City or public health, safety and welfare since the 
approved expansion will necessitate the relocation of the existing utilities.  A new 
easement will be created by separate instrument for the relocated utility infrastructure.  
The applicant has received consent from the utility owners. 
Land Development Staff reviewed this petition and is recommending approval.  
 
Legal: 
 
The abandonment was reviewed in accordance with all applicable City Code 
requirements. 
 



Res. 2017-01/AB-16-02 
Page 2 

 
 
Financial: 
 
There will be no financial loss to the City of Greenacres if this utility easement is 
abandoned. There will be a financial gain, reflected in property taxes and an improved 
economic growth to the area, with the new construction at River Bridge Center. 
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of AB-16-02 through the adoption of Resolution 2017-01. 
 
 
 
 
  
Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, AICP 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution 2017-01 
2. Survey and Legal Description (Exhibit "A") 



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-05 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, COMMENDING THE FLORIDA ASSOCIATION 
OF CITY CLERKS FOR ITS 45TH ANNIVERSARY.  
 
WHEREAS, the Florida Association of City Clerks (FACC) was established in 1972 to 

promote and develop the educational and professional status of Florida city clerks; and 

WHEREAS, the primary objective of the FACC is to educate the city clerks in the State 

of Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the FACC works in conjunction with the International Institute of Municipal 

Clerks to provide Certified Municipal Clerk (CMC) and Master Municipal Clerk (MMS) 

certification for city clerks; and 

WHEREAS, the FACC strives to help increase the efficiency of city clerk functions, 

increase cooperation and assistance with city administrators, gather and disseminate 

information to improve procedures, and improve the efficiency of the administration of 

municipal government; and 

WHEREAS, the FACC currently has more than 575 members in seven districts 

throughout the state; and  

WHEREAS, the FACC is proud to have one of the largest certification programs in the 

country with more than 200 Certified Municipal Clerks and more than 100 Master Municipal 

Clerks among its members; and 

WHEREAS, the FACC provides educational opportunities for clerks through its annual 

summer conference and academy and fall academy, webinars, district mini-academies and 

Athenian Dialogues; and  

WHEREAS, the FACC provides a discussion forum by which members may post 

inquiries when researching best practices for programs, issues and opportunities within 

Florida’s cities; and 

WHEREAS, the year 2017 is the 45th anniversary of the FACC, which is an occasion 

worthy of special recognition. 

WHEREAS, the City of Greenacres is proud to offer membership into FACC. 

 



Resolution No. 2017-05                                                                                                Page 2 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The City of Greenacres congratulates the FACC on its 45th anniversary. 
 

 Section 2.  A copy of this resolution be provided to the FACC Board of Directors. 
   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Resolution No. 2017-05                                                                                                Page 3 

 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 6th day of March, 2017. 

                                                                                   Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Samuel J. Ferreri     Jonathan G. Pearce 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk      Councilwoman, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Councilman, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Paula Bousquet 
       Councilwoman, District V 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2017-02 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTER 16, 
ARTICLE VI, SIGN REGULATIONS, DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, 
SECTION 16-934, AND DIVISION 4, SIGN STANDARDS, 
SECTIONS 16-985; TO UPDATE AND CLARIFY THE ZONING 
CODE; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING 
FOR INCLUSION IN CODE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Engineering Department has submitted a request for 

a zoning text amendment to revise Chapter 16, Article VI, Sign Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, it has been determined, in accordance with the Land Development 

Staff Report and Recommendation, “Exhibit A” dated February 10, 2017 (attached), that 

certain amendments to the City’s zoning regulations are appropriate; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission on February 15, 2017, held a duly 

advertised public hearing and recommended approval of ZTA-16-04 and adoption of 

Ordinance 2017-02 as presented by staff; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Greenacres has held two (2) duly advertised public 

hearings to review this request; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Greenacres finds that it is in the best interests of 

the citizens of the City of Greenacres that the provisions of Chapter 16, Article VI of the 

City’s Zoning Code be amended; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Greenacres finds that the amendments contained 

within this ordinance will promote the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of 

Greenacres. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 



Ordinance 2017-02 
Page 2 

 
Section 1.  Chapter 16, Article VI is hereby amended as follows: 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
Sec. 16-934.  Prohibited signs. 
 

It shall be a violation of this chapter to erect, install, place, or maintain the following signs 
or advertising structures in this City: 
 

 (1) Schedule of district regulations. Any signs or advertising structures which are not 
specifically permitted under the following divisions regarding the district regulation 
or otherwise specifically permitted under this chapter.  

(2) Traffic or pedestrian hazard. Any sign or advertising structure which constitutes a 
traffic hazard or a detriment to traffic safety by reason of its size, location, 
movement, content, coloring, or method of illumination, or by obstructing the 
vision of drivers, or signs that obstruct or detract from the visibility of traffic-control 
devices or emergency vehicles. The use of flashing lights or revolving lights is 
prohibited as part of any sign as it constitutes a traffic hazard. Any sign which by 
glare or method of illumination constitutes a hazard to either vehicular or non-
vehicular traffic is prohibited. Also prohibited is any sign which may be confused 
with or purports to be a governmental, traffic direction or safety sign, or any other 
sign or group of signs which create a traffic hazard as determined by the city.  

(3) Obscenities. Any sign or advertising structure with words, scenes or graphics 
which are obscene, indecent and prurient.  Signs which exhibit obscene or illegal 
written messages or materials.  

(4) Right-of-way. Any sign or advertising structure (other than those erected by a 
governmental agency or required to be erected by a governmental agency for a 
public purpose) erected, installed or placed on the right-of-way of any street, road 
or public way, or signs overhanging or infringing upon the right-of-way of any 
street, road or public way, except as specifically permitted by this chapter.  

(5) Public property. Any sign or advertising structure erected on city property or other 
governmental property other than signs erected by any governmental entity for 
public purposes.  

(6) Ingress and egress to buildings. Any sign or advertising structure which is 
erected, installed or maintained that obstructs any fire escape, required exit, 
window or door opening intended as a means of ingress or egress.  

(7) Rear of a building. Any sign or advertising structure which is erected, installed or 
maintained upon the rear of a building, with the exception of allowing a tenant to 
identify the business name and/or address on a rear exit door with no greater 
than six (6) inch nonilluminated letters painted, printed, stenciled, or attached to 
the face of the rear door.  

(8) "A" frame sign. 
(9) Animated sign. 
(10) Banner sign. Any banner sign, with the exception of those banner signs that are 

granted a temporary use permit by the city.  
(11) Off-premises sign. 
(12) Portable sign. 
(13) Projecting sign. 



Ordinance 2017-02 
Page 3 

 
(14) Snipe sign. 
(15) Temporary sign, with the exception of those temporary signs that are granted a 

temporary use permit.  
(16) Vehicular sign. 
(17) Vee-shaped signs. 
(18) Abandoned signs. 
(19) Signs placed upon benches, bus shelters, or waste receptacles, except as may 

be authorized by the City of Greenacres or superseded by state statutes.  
(20) Awning signs. 
(21) Exposed neon tubing, neon signs, and LED signs that emulate the general 

appearance of traditional neon signs. 
(22) Signs which emit a sound, odor or visible matter. 
(23) Signs or sign structures any portion of which extends above the parapet, building 

roof line or canopy against which the sign is located.  
(24) Any sign with an exposed unshielded light source which does not comply with the 

terms, conditions and provisions contained in this chapter.  
(25) Painted wall signs. 
(26) Hot or cold-air balloons, with the exception of those cold air balloons that are 

granted a temporary use permit.  Inflatable shapes or figures with or without 
words or pictures. 

 (27) Electronic Changeable copy signs, with the exception of the following, which may 
be displayed as set forth in this Article: 

  a. except tTime and temperature signs as defined in section 16-932(35); 
  b., gGas station price signs as defined in section 16-932(16); 
  c.  Ground signs for government uses located in the Government Use (GU) 

 zoning district,  
 All both subject to the requirement of section 16-985(a) note 3.  
(28) Any sign not specifically, or by reasonable implication, permitted herein. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
Sec. 16-985. Identification signs. 
 
(a) Identification signs are subject to the following: 
 

Identification Signs 
District Free-standing Building2,9 
 Number Copy area 

per sign 
face3 

Height Setbacks Number Copy area per 
sign face 

AR 
RE 
RL 
RM 
RMH 
RH 

1 per 
major 
access¹ 

Max. of 32 
sq. ft. 

Max. of 
6’ 

Min. of 5’ from all 
property lines, and 
out of all sight 
visibility triangles 

1 per 
frontage4,8 

Max. of 32 sq. ft. 



Ordinance 2017-02 
Page 4 

 
OPI 1 per 

frontage5,7 
25% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 60 
sq. ft. 

5% of 
parcel 
l.f., 
max. 
15’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. 
of building or 
tenant frontage, 
max of 60 sq. ft. 

CN 
MXD-
OS 

1 per 
frontage5,7 

25% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 75 
sq. ft. 

5% of 
parcel 
l.f., 
max. 
15’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. 
of building or 
tenant frontage, 
max of 75 sq. ft. 

CG 1 per 
frontage5,7 

30% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 240 
sq. ft. 

5% of 
parcel 
l.f., 
max. 
20’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. 
of building or 
tenant frontage, 
max of 240 sq. 
ft. 

CI 1 per 
frontage5,7 

30% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 400 
sq. ft. 

5% of 
parcel 
l.f., 
max. 
25’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. 
of building or 
tenant frontage, 
max of 240 sq. 
ft. 

MXD-
R, 
MXD-
C 

1 per 
frontage5,7 

15% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 12 
sq. ft. 

Max. 5’ 1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. 
of building or 
tenant frontage, 
max of 30 sq. ft. 

MXD-
O 

1 per 
frontage5,7 

25% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 90 
sq. ft. 

5% of 
l.f., 
max. 
15’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. 
of building or 
tenant frontage, 
max of 60 sq. ft. 

GU 1 per 
frontage5,7 

30% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 400 
sq. ft. 

Max of 
6’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. 
of building or 
tenant frontage, 
max of 240 sq. 
ft. 

 
1 For planned residential developments and subdivisions, two (2) signs with one (1) copy side 
each, may be permitted in place of a single sign with two (2) copy areas. 
 
2 For single-use stores with over forty thousand (40,000) sq. ft. of floor area: 

a. Three (3) building signs with copy area not to exceed the maximum area allowed. 
b. There shall be a minimum separation of three (3) feet between wall signs. 
c. Side wall building signage shall not exceed fifty (50) percent of max. sq. ft. of allowable 

building sign copy area, or twenty-five (25) percent of max. sq. ft. of allowable building 
signs copy area when adjacent to residential parcels. 

 
3 Time and temperature signs not exceeding two (2) feet in height may be included as an 
integral part of the identification sign copy area in CG and CI districts for banks and financial 
institutions with drive-thrus.  Electronic changeable copy gas station price signs not exceeding 
twelve (12) square feet may be included as an integral part of the freestanding sign copy area 
for gas stations located in the CG and CI districts provided they are LED style and the sign copy 
is only for fuel prices.  Electronic changeable copy signs for Government users are limited to 



Ordinance 2017-02 
Page 5 

 
messages that serve a public purpose and are not permitted to promote commercial messages 
of any kind. No advertising for off-site businesses is permitted in any form. 
 
4 Wall signs are only applicable for non-residential uses in residential districts. 
 
5 Outparcels and outbuildings within a unified development shall be permitted one (1) free-
standing monument sign with a maximum height of eight (8) feet and with a maximum copy area 
of forty (40) sq. ft. per sign face.  
 
6 l.f. = Lineal frontage. 
 
7 Properties with two (2) or more street frontages are permitted one (1) free-standing sign per 
frontage, provided the signs are not located within 200 feet of each other as measured along the 
frontage line. 
 
8 Properties with two (2) or more street frontages are permitted one (1) building sign per 
frontage. 
 
9 Multi-story buildings shall be permitted 1 building identity sign, per street frontage, located at 

the top of the building.  Building identity signs may identify the name of the building or a main 
occupancy, and shall be limited to one building identity per building regardless of the number 
of signs permitted.  

 
(b) General provisions. 
 

(1) Free-standing signs shall be designed as monument signs, and oriented 
perpendicularly to the frontage on which they are situated. Free-standing signs must 
be located within the general area of the major vehicular access points, and must 
include the name of the development prominently displayed. Free-standing 
identification signs for commercial developments must also include the full range of 
street addresses located onsite (this will not be included as part of the copy area).  
Freestanding signs shall be consistent in color with those on the building.  All 
freestanding signs shall be designed with an opaque background, so that light or a 
light source cannot penetrate through the sign with the exception of through the 
letters and logo associated with said sign.  The architectural design shall be 
consistent with the design of the building, sharing materials, colors, and design 
motifs. 
 

(2) All signage located within any development shall maintain architectural consistency 
with itself, as well as with all structures, located onsite.  The development may get a 
master sign program approval which incorporates multiple colors, fonts, and logos 
provided it is included in part of a theme that provides architectural consistency for 
the project as a whole and is formally approved by the City. 
 

(3) Unless otherwise approved a part of site and development plan approval or as 
necessary to maintain consistency with the majority of the existing signs in the plaza, 
building wall signs shall be internally illuminated individual channel letters or reverse 
channel letters.  The trim cap and returns of the building wall sign shall be the same 
color as the letters and the illumination shall be with clear neon tubing.  No raceways 
or box signs will be permitted.  A maximum of 250% of the area of each building sign 



Ordinance 2017-02 
Page 6 

 
may incorporate a logo of any color, the logos shall not exceed the total height of the 
sign letters on the building and shall meet the requirements of distance from the 
premise area. All building signs shall be no closer than 12” from the side lines of the 
premises storefront and 6” to the top and bottom of the premises sign area.  The 
height of any building sign cannot exceed the top elevation of the structure.  Building 
signs shall be consistent in color with those on the freestanding sign. 

 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

Sec. 16-987. - Political signs. 

Political signs may be erected, subject to approval of all property owners where signs are 
installed. Political signs shall be erected not more than sixty (60) days prior to the election with the 
removal within seven (7) ten (10) days after the election.  

District  Copy Area  Height  Setbacks  

AR, RE, RL, RM, RH, RMH  16 sq. ft.  5′  10′ from all property lines  

OPI, CN, CG, CI, MXD  16 sq. ft.  8′  5′ from all property lines  

  

 [Sections 16-931 through 16-93, 16-935 through 16-984, 16-986, and 16-988 through 
16-997 to remain unchanged and are omitted for brevity] 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Section 2.   Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances. 

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent with 

the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 Section 3. Severability. 

If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or void, 

such holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance and it 

shall be construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance without such 

unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of this Ordinance 



Ordinance 2017-02 
Page 7 

 
after the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid as if such part or 

parts had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the provisions thereof 

shall be held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, kind of property, 

circumstances, or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect the applicability 

thereof to any other person, property or circumstances. 

Section 4. Inclusion in Code  

 It is the intention of the City Council, entered as hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Laws and 

Ordinances of the City of Greenacres, Florida; that the Section(s) of this Ordinance may 

be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention, and that the word “Ordinance” 

may be changed to “Section”, “Article” or another word. 

Section 5.   Effective Date. 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective five (5) days after it is 

adopted. 



Ordinance 2017-02 
Page 8 

 
 

Passed on the first reading this 6th day of March, 2017. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this          day of            , 2017. 

            Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Samuel J. Ferreri     Jonathan G. Pearce 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk      Councilwoman, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Councilman, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Paula Bousquet 
       Councilwoman, District V 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 
 

 



CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

Council Agenda Memo 
2017.2KF03.004 

 
TO:  Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Ordinance 2017-02, ZTA-16-04 

Zoning Text Amendment – Sign Code 
City Council Agenda Item for 03/06/17 

  
DATE:  February 27, 2017 
 
COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
  Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
  File:  ZTA-16-04  
 
 
Background: 
 
At the direction from City Council at a workshop held on October 24, 2016, the City-
initiated Zoning Code amendments are being proposed to make changes to the City’s 
sign code related to master signage programs, electronic changeable copy signs, and 
consistency with Palm Beach County political signage regulations.   
 
On January 12 and January 17, the Land Development Staff reviewed the proposal and 
recommended approval.  On February 15, 2017, the Planning Commission recommended 
approval of ZTA-16-04 by a vote of 5-0.  
 
Analysis: 
 
This Zoning Text Amendment includes three (3) changes to the Zoning Code: 
 
1. To add an exemption to prohibited signs to Article VI, Division 1, Sections 16-934. 
2. To add language within Article VI, Division 4, 16-985, regarding sign standards. 
3. To add and delete language within Article VI, Division 4, Section 16-987 regarding 

removal of political signs after elections. 
 

The proposed amendments will revise the Zoning Code to allow for LED changeable copy 
signs to provide information to the public related to public purposes and non-commercial 
messages, provide for changes to the City’s sign code related to color, size, and 
uniformity of signs, as well as creating consistency with the timing of removal of political 
signs with Palm Beach County.  



 
Ord. 2017-02 / ZTA-16-04 

  Page 2 
 
 
Legal: 
 
Ordinance 2017-02 was prepared in accordance with all applicable State statutes and 
City Code requirements. 
 
Financial: 
 
N/A. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of ZTA-16-04 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-02. 
 
 
 
 
 
Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, AICP 
Planning and Engineering Director 
 
Attachments 

1. Staff Report 
2. Ordinance 2017-02 



ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02) Page 1 of 8 Sign Code 

ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02)      Revised: 02/10/17 
Exhibit "A”          02/15/17 
Date: January 27, 2017        
 
 
 
 
I. Project Description: 
 
 Petitioner: City of Greenacres 
 
 Request: Zoning Text Amendments (ZTA) to Chapter 16, Article VI. 
 

The intent of the City initiated zoning text amendment is to clarify, add and 
delete certain sections within Chapter 16, Article VI of the City of 
Greenacres Zoning Code relating to signage. 

 
II. Proposed Zoning Code Amendments: 

 
The following Zoning Code regulations are impacted by the proposed Zoning Text Amendments.  
Text shown in strikethrough is to be deleted.  Text shown in underline is to be added. 

 
 

Proposed Change #1 
 
ARTICLE VI.  SIGN REGULATIONS. 
 
Sec. 16-934.  Prohibited signs. 
 

It shall be a violation of this chapter to erect, install, place, or maintain the following signs 
or advertising structures in this City: 
 

 (1) Schedule of district regulations. Any signs or advertising structures which are not 
specifically permitted under the following divisions regarding the district 
regulation or otherwise specifically permitted under this chapter.  

(2) Traffic or pedestrian hazard. Any sign or advertising structure which constitutes a 
traffic hazard or a detriment to traffic safety by reason of its size, location, 
movement, content, coloring, or method of illumination, or by obstructing the 
vision of drivers, or signs that obstruct or detract from the visibility of traffic-
control devices or emergency vehicles. The use of flashing lights or revolving 
lights is prohibited as part of any sign as it constitutes a traffic hazard. Any sign 
which by glare or method of illumination constitutes a hazard to either vehicular 
or non-vehicular traffic is prohibited. Also prohibited is any sign which may be 
confused with or purports to be a governmental, traffic direction or safety sign, or 
any other sign or group of signs which create a traffic hazard as determined by the 
city.  

LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 



ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02) Page 2 of 8 Sign Code 

(3) Obscenities. Any sign or advertising structure with words, scenes or graphics 
which are obscene, indecent and prurient.  Signs which exhibit obscene or illegal 
written messages or materials.  

(4) Right-of-way. Any sign or advertising structure (other than those erected by a 
governmental agency or required to be erected by a governmental agency for a 
public purpose) erected, installed or placed on the right-of-way of any street, road 
or public way, or signs overhanging or infringing upon the right-of-way of any 
street, road or public way, except as specifically permitted by this chapter.  

(5) Public property. Any sign or advertising structure erected on city property or other 
governmental property other than signs erected by any governmental entity for 
public purposes.  

(6) Ingress and egress to buildings. Any sign or advertising structure which is erected, 
installed or maintained that obstructs any fire escape, required exit, window or 
door opening intended as a means of ingress or egress.  

(7) Rear of a building. Any sign or advertising structure which is erected, installed or 
maintained upon the rear of a building, with the exception of allowing a tenant to 
identify the business name and/or address on a rear exit door with no greater than 
six (6) inch nonilluminated letters painted, printed, stenciled, or attached to the 
face of the rear door.  

(8) "A" frame sign. 
(9) Animated sign. 
(10) Banner sign. Any banner sign, with the exception of those banner signs that are 

granted a temporary use permit by the city.  
(11) Off-premises sign. 
(12) Portable sign. 
(13) Projecting sign. 
(14) Snipe sign. 
(15) Temporary sign, with the exception of those temporary signs that are granted a 

temporary use permit.  
(16) Vehicular sign. 
(17) Vee-shaped signs. 
(18) Abandoned signs. 
(19) Signs placed upon benches, bus shelters, or waste receptacles, except as may be 

authorized by the City of Greenacres or superseded by state statutes.  
(20) Awning signs. 
(21) Exposed neon tubing, neon signs, and LED signs that emulate the general 

appearance of traditional neon signs. 
(22) Signs which emit a sound, odor or visible matter. 
(23) Signs or sign structures any portion of which extends above the parapet, building 

roof line or canopy against which the sign is located.  
(24) Any sign with an exposed unshielded light source which does not comply with the 

terms, conditions and provisions contained in this chapter.  
(25) Painted wall signs. 



ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02) Page 3 of 8 Sign Code 

(26) Hot or cold-air balloons, with the exception of those cold air balloons that are 
granted a temporary use permit.  Inflatable shapes or figures with or without 
words or pictures. 

 (27) Electronic Changeable copy signs, with the exception of the following, which may 
be displayed as set forth in this Article: 

  a. except tTime and temperature signs as defined in section 16-932(35); 
  b., gGas station price signs as defined in section 16-932(16); 
  c.  Ground signs for government uses located in the Government Use (GU) 

 zoning district,  
 All both subject to the requirement of section 16-985(a) note 3.  
(28) Any sign not specifically, or by reasonable implication, permitted herein. 

 
Proposed Change #2 
 
ARTICLE VI.  SIGN REGULATIONS. 
 
DIVISION 4.  SIGN STANDARDS* 
 
 
Sec. 16-985. Identification signs. 
 
(a) Identification signs are subject to the following: 
 

Identification Signs 
District Free-standing Building2,9 
 Number Copy area 

per sign face3 
Height Setbacks Number Copy area per sign 

face 
AR 
RE 
RL 
RM 
RMH 
RH 

1 per major 
access¹ 

Max. of 32 
sq. ft. 

Max. of 
6’ 

Min. of 5’ from all 
property lines, and out 
of all sight visibility 
triangles 

1 per 
frontage4,8 

Max. of 32 sq. ft. 

OPI 1 per 
frontage5,7 

25% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 60 sq. 
ft. 

5% of 
parcel 
l.f., max. 
15’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. of 
building or tenant 
frontage, max of 60 
sq. ft. 

CN 
MXD-
OS 

1 per 
frontage5,7 

25% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 75 sq. 
ft. 

5% of 
parcel 
l.f., max. 
15’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. of 
building or tenant 
frontage, max of 75 
sq. ft. 

CG 1 per 
frontage5,7 

30% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 240 sq. 
ft. 

5% of 
parcel 
l.f., max. 
20’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. of 
building or tenant 
frontage, max of 240 
sq. ft. 

CI 1 per 
frontage5,7 

30% of 
parcel l.f., 

5% of 
parcel 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. of 
building or tenant 



ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02) Page 4 of 8 Sign Code 

max. 400 sq. 
ft. 

l.f., max. 
25’ 

frontage, max of 240 
sq. ft. 

MXD-R, 
MXD-C 

1 per 
frontage5,7 

15% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 12 sq. 
ft. 

Max. 5’ 1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. of 
building or tenant 
frontage, max of 30 
sq. ft. 

MXD-O 1 per 
frontage5,7 

25% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 90 sq. 
ft. 

5% of 
l.f., max. 
15’ 

1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. of 
building or tenant 
frontage, max of 60 
sq. ft. 

GU 1 per 
frontage5,7 

30% of 
parcel l.f., 
max. 400 sq. 
ft. 

Max of 6’ 1 per 
frontage8 

1 ½ sq. ft. per l.f. of 
building or tenant 
frontage, max of 240 
sq. ft. 

 
1 For planned residential developments and subdivisions, two (2) signs with one (1) copy side each, 
may be permitted in place of a single sign with two (2) copy areas. 
 
2 For single-use stores with over forty thousand (40,000) sq. ft. of floor area: 

a. Three (3) building signs with copy area not to exceed the maximum area allowed. 
b. There shall be a minimum separation of three (3) feet between wall signs. 
c. Side wall building signage shall not exceed fifty (50) percent of max. sq. ft. of allowable 

building sign copy area, or twenty-five (25) percent of max. sq. ft. of allowable building 
signs copy area when adjacent to residential parcels. 

 
3 Time and temperature signs not exceeding two (2) feet in height may be included as an integral 
part of the identification sign copy area in CG and CI districts for banks and financial institutions 
with drive-thrus.  Electronic changeable copy gas station price signs not exceeding twelve (12) 
square feet may be included as an integral part of the freestanding sign copy area for gas stations 
located in the CG and CI districts provided they are LED style and the sign copy is only for fuel 
prices.  Electronic changeable copy signs for Government users are limited to messages that serve 
a public purpose and are not permitted to promote commercial messages of any kind.  No 
advertising for off-site businesses is permitted in any form. 
 
4 Wall signs are only applicable for non-residential uses in residential districts. 
 
5 Outparcels and outbuildings within a unified development shall be permitted one (1) free-
standing monument sign with a maximum height of eight (8) feet and with a maximum copy area 
of forty (40) sq. ft. per sign face.  
 
6 l.f. = Lineal frontage. 
 
7 Properties with two (2) or more street frontages are permitted one (1) free-standing sign per 
frontage, provided the signs are not located within 200 feet of each other as measured along the 
frontage line. 
 
8 Properties with two (2) or more street frontages are permitted one (1) building sign per frontage. 



ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02) Page 5 of 8 Sign Code 

 
9 Multi-story buildings shall be permitted 1 building identity sign, per street frontage, located at 

the top of the building.  Building identity signs may identify the name of the building or a main 
occupancy, and shall be limited to one building identity per building regardless of the number of 
signs permitted.  

 
(b) General provisions. 
 

(1) Free-standing signs shall be designed as monument signs, and oriented perpendicularly 
to the frontage on which they are situated. Free-standing signs must be located within 
the general area of the major vehicular access points, and must include the name of the 
development prominently displayed. Free-standing identification signs for commercial 
developments must also include the full range of street addresses located onsite (this 
will not be included as part of the copy area).  Freestanding signs shall be consistent in 
color with those on the building.  All freestanding signs shall be designed with an 
opaque background, so that light or a light source cannot penetrate through the sign 
with the exception of through the letters and logo associated with said sign.  The 
architectural design shall be consistent with the design of the building, sharing 
materials, colors, and design motifs. 
 

(2) All signage located within any development shall maintain architectural consistency 
with itself, as well as with all structures, located onsite.  The development may get a 
master sign program approval which incorporates multiple colors, fonts, and logos 
provided it is included in part of a theme that provides architectural consistency for the 
project as a whole and is approved by the City. 

 
(3) Unless otherwise approved a part of site and development plan approval or as necessary 

to maintain consistency with the majority of the existing signs in the plaza, building 
wall signs shall be internally illuminated individual channel letters or reverse channel 
letters.  The trim cap and returns of the building wall sign shall be the same color as 
the letters and the illumination shall be with clear neon tubing.  No raceways or box 
signs will be permitted.  A maximum of 250% of the area of each building sign may 
incorporate a logo of any color, the logos shall not exceed the total height of the sign 
letters on the building and shall meet the requirements of distance from the premise 
area. All building signs shall be no closer than 12” from the side lines of the premises 
storefront and 6” to the top and bottom of the premises sign area.  The height of any 
building sign cannot exceed the top elevation of the structure.  Building signs shall be 
consistent in color with those on the freestanding sign. 

 
 
Proposed Change #3 
 
ARTICLE VI.  SIGN REGULATIONS. 
 
DIVISION 4.  SIGN STANDARDS* 
 



ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02) Page 6 of 8 Sign Code 

 

Sec. 16-987. - Political signs. 

Political signs may be erected, subject to approval of all property owners where signs are 
installed. Political signs shall be erected not more than sixty (60) days prior to the election 
with the removal within seven (7) ten (10) days after the election.  

District  Copy Area  Height  Setbacks  

AR, RE, RL, RM, RH, RMH  16 sq. ft.  5′  10′ from all property lines  

OPI, CN, CG, CI, MXD  16 sq. ft.  8′  5′ from all property lines  

  

III. Staff Analysis: 
 
Background: 
 
This Zoning Text Amendments are at the request of the City’s Leisure Services Department to 
allow for LED changeable copy signs to provide information to the public related to public 
purposes and non-commercial messages.  In addition, staff received direction from the City 
Council at a workshop held on October 24, 2016 to make changes to the City’s sign code related 
to color, size, and uniformity of signs, as well as creating consistency with the timing of removal 
of political signs with Palm Beach County.  
 
Land Development Staff Comments: 
 
The petition was reviewed by the Land Development Staff on January 12, 2017 and recommended 
for approval. 
 

Planning and Engineering Department: Incorporated into the staff report 
 Building Department:    Incorporated into the staff report 
 Fire Rescue Department:   No objections 

PBSO District 16:    No objections  
Public Works Department:   No objections 

 
IV. Zoning Text Amendment Criteria: 
 
 A. The need and justification for these changes: 
 

The principal intent of these proposed text amendments to the Zoning Code is to 
provide changes to the Code to clarify interpretations and to allow LED changeable 
copy signs within Government Use districts that display messages for a public 



ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02) Page 7 of 8 Sign Code 

purpose only.  In addition, providing three days to the time limit for removal of 
political signs creates consistency with Palm Beach County regulations for political 
signage removal.  This minor modification will provide consistency in enforcement 
of sign removal throughout the City, including unincorporated pockets of 
development. 

 
B. The relationship of the proposed amendments to the purpose and objectives of the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan, and whether the proposed change will further the 
purposes of the City’s Zoning Code regulations and other City codes, regulations 
and actions designed to implement the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
The proposed amendments are consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and 
will further the purposes of the City’s Zoning Code regulations and other City 
Codes.  Furthermore, contradictory and unclear provisions are being clarified so 
that the Code can be consistently applied. 
 

V. Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of ZTA-16-04 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-02. 
 
 
  



ZTA-16-04(Ordinance 2017-02) Page 8 of 8 Sign Code 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION – February 15, 2017 

 
 
The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Clements and seconded by 
Commissioner Chambers, by a vote of five (5) to zero (0), recommended approval of Zoning 
Text Amendment ZTA-16-04 (Sign Code), as presented by staff. 

 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – March 6, 2017 

 
 
 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
              
        Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor 

 
 
Attest: 

 
 
              
        Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:  

1. Ordinance 2017-02 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2017-04 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 
ELEMENT OF THE CITY'S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN TO REFLECT 
RECENT CHANGES, AS REQUESTED BY THE PLANNING AND 
ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE DIVISION OF COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres, pursuant to the Local 

Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, and in 

accordance with all of its terms and provisions, has prepared and adopted a 

Comprehensive Plan which has been certified by the State of Florida Division of 

Community Development; and 

WHEREAS, the Local Planning Agency for the City of Greenacres has held a 

duly advertised public hearing on February 1, 2017, and has recommended approval of 

petition CPA-16-03, attached as Exhibit “A”, to amend the Capital Improvement Element 

of the City of Greenacres Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Greenacres has conducted a duly 

advertised public hearing to receive comments on the Capital Improvement Element 

text amendment proposed by CPA-16-03 and has considered all comments received 

concerning the proposed amendments to the Plan as required by state law and local 

ordinance; and  



Ordinance 2017-04 
CIE Update 

Page 2 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the proposed amendment is consistent 

with the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and is in the best interest of the citizens of the City 

of Greenacres. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  The Capital Improvement Element of the City of Greenacres is  
 
hereby amended as follows:  
 
Text Amendment #1: 
  

* * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
II. INFORMATION, INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS: 
 

A. DEFINITIONS (omitted for brevity – no text changes) 
 

B.  PUBLIC EDUCATION AND HEALTH SYSTEMS (omitted for brevity – no 
changes) 

  
C.  CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS NEEDS 

 
Capital Improvements where necessary and appropriate have been identified 
throughout the relevant elements of this plan.  Table No. 1A depicts required City 
capital improvements from the Recreation and Open Space Element, Infrastructure 
Element (Drainage), and Transportation Element necessary to maintain the adopted 
Level of Service. 

 
Table No. 1A indicates the project by description, the target year wherein the project 
should commence to maintain service levels and an estimate of the total project costs.  
All projects have been grouped by the element requiring the capital improvement.  
Footnotes describe the funding source. 
 
The projects listed in Table No. 1A do not represent the entire capital improvements 
program for the City. The table merely reflects those improvements necessary to 
maintain the adopted Level of Service for services the City is fully or partly 
responsible for as shown elsewhere in the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 



Ordinance 2017-04 
CIE Update 

Page 3 
 

 

Table No. 1A:  City Of Greenacres Capital Improvements (2016 - 2021) 
 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Recreation 
Community Center Expansion2 3,500,000 0 0 0 0 0 
Stormwater Management and Sewer Extension 
Stormwater Pipe & Basin Replacement1 60,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 
Original Section Drainage Improvements1  195,000 416,000 242,000 220,000 352,000 0 
Transportation 
Bowman Street Improvements3 0 0 0 150,000 0 0 
Dillman Road Sidewalks3 42,250 52,500 0 0 0 0 
TOTAL: 3,797,250 493,500 267,000 395,000 377,000 25,000 

 
Table No. 1A:  City Of Greenacres Capital Improvements (2017 - 2022) 
 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Recreation 
No projects 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Stormwater Management and Sewer Extension 
Stormwater Pipe & Basin Replacement1 157,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 
Original Section Drainage Improvements1  550,008 275,119 253,654 397,708 0 0 
Swain Blvd Sewer1 0 435,000 3,325,000 0 0 0 
Transportation 
Bowman Street Improvements3 0 0 150,000 0 0 0 
Dillman Road Sidewalks3 62,500 0 0 0 0 0 
City Sidewalks3 75,600 288,000 208,800 0 0 0 
Public Buildings 
Public Safety HQ Renovation2 223,650 0 0 0 0 0 
TOTAL: 3,797,250 493,500 267,000 395,000 377,000 25,000 

  
 

1. The stormwater and drainage enhancements are intended to increase the capacity of these older drainage 
systems to improve performance and flood protection.  Total project costs for FY 20162017 through FY 
20212022 are $1,610,000$1,758,489. Grant funds of $525,767 are anticipated to be provided through 
Community Development Block Grants over the same period.  In FY 2016, revenue of $1,821,771 in 
interfund transfer, grants and interest is budgeted in Fund 304 (Reconstruction and Maintenance).  
Expenditures in FY 2016 of $2,148,178 are budgeted, including the stormwater drainage enhancements.  
The existing Fund 304 balance of  $2,116,723 will be used for the net expenditure in FY2016 and to fund 
the balance of  $1,084,223 needed for the stormwater drainage projects ( $1,610,000 – $525,767 grants = 
$1,084,223) through FY 2021.The Swain Blvd Sewer improvements will provide sewer infrastructure and 
therefore capacity to the Original Section of the City, which currently only has septic systems. 

2. The Public Safety HQ Renovation are intended to increase the capacity of the City’s Fire Rescue facilities 
to accommodate additional staff.  Total project costs for FY2017 through FY2022 are $223,650.  The 
recreation enhancements are intended to increase the capacity of the City’s Community Center.  Total 



Ordinance 2017-04 
CIE Update 

Page 4 
 

 
project costs for FY2016 through FY2021 are $3,500,000.  In FY2016, revenue of $2,335,554 in interfund 
transfer, interest, impact fees, and park land rental (cell tower) is budgeted in Fund 303 (Park and 
Recreation).  Expenditures in FY 2016 of $3,786,500 are budgeted, including the above enhancement.  The 
existing Fund 303 balance of $1,361,094 will be used for the net expenditure in FY 2016.  

3. The Dillman Road sidewalks will provide safe access for neighborhood kids to the Cholee Lake 
Elementary School.  The Bowman Street improvements will improve a portion of the Bowman Street to 
City street standards where it connects to South Military Trail, an Urban Principal Arterial (UPA) roadway.  
The City sidewalks project will complete all unfinished links in the City’s sidewalk program.  These 
improvements are intended to promote multi-modal access to an elementary school and bring a roadway 
connection up to level of service standards.  Total project costs for FY 2017 through FY 2022 are 
$244,750$784,900.  In FY 2016, revenue of $184,127 in interest, impact fees, and park land rental (cell 
tower) is budgeted in Fund 301 (New Growth).  Expenditures in FY 2016 of $257,250 are budgeted, 
including the above improvements.  The existing Fund 301 balance of $1,389,527 will be used for the net 
expenditure in FY 2016. 

  
Table No. 1B depicts improvements to the County and State roadway network 
proposed as part of the Palm Beach County’s “Five Year Road Program” and shows 
projects within or adjacent to the City of Greenacres.  The Table is based on the 
Program as of December 16, 2015 December 15, 2016.  The Program is funded 
through a combination of gasoline taxes, interest, bonds, impact fees, and 
miscellaneous revenue, all of which are collected and controlled by Palm Beach 
County. 

Table No. 1B:  Palm Beach County Road Program (2016 - 2020) 
Description 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Haverhill Road from Lantana Rd. to S. of  
L-14 Canal (0.9 miles, 2 lanes to 4 lanes) 

3,500,000 0 0 0 
 

0 

Haverhill Road from S. of L-14 Canal to Lake 
Worth Road (1.3 miles, 2 lanes to 5 lanes) 

8,800,000 0 0 0 
 

0 

Intersection of L.W. Road and Jog Road 0 630,000 0 0 0 
Jog Road Resurfacing (Hypoluxo to 10th 
Ave N.) 

2,100,000 0 0 0 0 

Total Greenacres Area Projects 14,400,000 0 0 0 0 
 

Total Program Revenue 58,396,610 101,815,834 39,894,058 30,713,282 26,710,506 
Total Program Costs 57,890,000 101,270,000 39,130,000 30,641,000 25,980,000 

 
Table No. 1B:  Palm Beach County Road Program (2017 - 2021) 
Description 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Intersection of L.W. Road and Jog Road 630,000 0 0 0 0 
Purdy Lane/Forest Hill Elem School to 
Major Dr 

2,300,000 0 0 0 0 

Total Greenacres Area Projects 2,930,000 0 0 0 0 
Total Program Revenue 117,819,000 43,079,000 29,740,000 33,809,000 5,359,000 
Total Program Costs 117,819,000 43,079,000 29,740,000 33,809,000 5,359,000 

 



Ordinance 2017-04 
CIE Update 

Page 5 
 

 
Table 1C depicts improvements shown in the Palm Beach County Water Utilities 
Department’s “Water Supply Work Plan” (Capital Improvement Plan Detail) and 
includes projects throughout their interconnected system. The table is based on the 
Capital Improvement Plan Detail as of October 21, 2015 October 21, 2016.  All of the 
projects depicted in Table 1C are 100% funded by Water Utility User Fees. 
 

Table No. 1C:  Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department Capital Improvements (2016-2020) 
Description 2016 2017 2018 2019   2020  
Water Treatment Plant 2 4,709,000 2,236,000 16,043,000 2,421,000 2,000,000 
Water Treatment Plant 3 2,000,000 2,216,000 2,908,000 2,074,000 2,000,000 
Water Treatment Plant 8 18,155,000 2,064,000 5,799,000 2,114,000 2,000,000 
Water Treatment Plant 9 2,900,000 4,538,000 2,185,000 13,179,000 2,334,000 

Wellfield Rehabilitation and 
Construction 

3,380,000 4,289,000 4,313,000 1,236,000 1,000,000 

TOTAL: 31,144,000 15,343,000 31,248,000 21,024,000 9,334,000 

 
Table No. 1C:  Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department Capital Improvements (2017-2021) 
Description 2017 2018 2019 2020   2021  
Water Treatment Plant 2 0 0 15,021,000 0 0 
Water Treatment Plant 9 0 1,750,000 11,560,000 5,749,000 0 

Water Treatment Plant 11 1,101,000 0 0 0 0 

Wellfield Rehabilitation and 
Construction 

1,563,000 8,500,000 6,450,000 7,052,000 0 

TOTAL: 31,144,000 15,343,000 31,248,000 21,024,000 9,334,000 

 
Table 8, below in the Goals, Objectives and Policies Section, depicts the School 
District of Palm Beach County’s Capital Improvement program to maintain the 
adopted level of service.   

 
D.  FINANCIAL CAPABILITY AND FISCAL PRACTICES (omitted for brevity – no 

changes) 
 

E.  AN ASSESSMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES (omitted for brevity – 
no changes) 

 
 F. ANALYSIS OF ISSUES RELATIVE TO CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS (omitted for 

brevity – no changes) 
 
 



Ordinance 2017-04 
CIE Update 

Page 6 
 

 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * *  
 

Text Amendment #2 to Table 8 on Pages CIE-26 through CIE-32 (7 pages): 

 Replace existing Table 8 with revised Table 8 attached as “Exhibit B” 

* * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
Section 2.  Authorization to Make Changes. 

That the Planning and Engineering Department is further authorized to make the 

necessary changes to the Comprehensive Plan to reflect the above-stated changes. 

Section  3.   Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.   

All Ordinances or parts thereof or parts of the Code conflicting or inconsistent 

with the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 Section  4.   Severability. 

 If any section, part of a section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of 

this Ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, inoperative or 

void, such holdings of invalidity shall not affect the remaining portion of this Ordinance 

and it shall be construed to have been the legislative intent to pass the Ordinance 

without such unconstitutional, invalid or inoperative part therein, and the remainder of 

this Ordinance after the exclusion of such part or parts shall be deemed to be held valid 

as if such part or parts had not been included therein, or if this Ordinance or any of the 

provisions thereof shall be held inapplicable to any person, group of persons, property, 

kind of property, circumstances, or set of circumstances, such holdings shall not affect 

the applicability thereof to any other person, property or circumstances. 



Ordinance 2017-04 
CIE Update 

Page 7 
 

 
Section  5.  Transmittal to the DCD. 

The Planning and Engineering Department shall transmit copies of the 

amendment and Ordinance to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO). 

 Section  6.   Inclusion in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 It is the intention of the City Council, entered as hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Comprehensive 

Plan of the City of Greenacres, Florida; that the section(s) of this Ordinance may be 

renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention, and that the word “Ordinance” 

may be changed to “Section”, “Article” or another word. 

Section  7.   Effective Date. 

 The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption. 



Ordinance 2017-04 
CIE Update 

Page 8 
 

 
Passed on the first reading this 6th  day of March, 2017. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED on the second reading this      day of        , 2017. 

            Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Samuel J. Ferreri     Lisa Rivera 
Mayor       Councilwoman, District I 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Peter Noble 
City Clerk      Councilman, District II 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Judith Dugo 

       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Jonathan G. Pearce 
       Councilman, District IV 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Paula Bousquet 
       Councilwoman, District V 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 



CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

Council Agenda Memo 
2017.02KF03.001 

 
 
TO: Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Ordinance 2017-04, CPA-16-03 

Capital Improvement Element update 
 City Council Agenda Item for 03-06-17 
 
DATE: February 27, 2017 
 
COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
 Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 File:  CPA-16-03 
 
 
 
Background: 
 
The Capital Improvement Element within the Comprehensive Plan is being updated to 
reflect the City’s adopted Capital Improvement Program for the years 2017 through 
2022, relevant portions of the Palm Beach County Five Year Road Program, and the 
Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department Water Supply Work Plan.  The update 
also includes the School District of Palm Beach County’s Capital Improvement Program, 
which is required to be kept up to date by the City’s Comprehensive Plan. In 
accordance with revised state statutes concerning the processing of updates to the 
Capital Improvement Element, a copy of this text amendment will be provided to the 
Florida Department of Economic Development (DEO) as a courtesy.  
 
The Local Planning Agency reviewed this text amendment on February 1, 2017, and 
recommended approval by a vote of 6-0. 
 
 
Analysis: 
 
The text amendment will authorize an update to the Capital Improvement Element 
within the City’s Comprehensive Plan as required by state statute. 
 



CPA-16-03 / Ord. 2017-04 
Page 2 

 
 

Overall, this amendment is compatible with the Treasure Cost Regional Planning 
Council’s Strategic Policy Plan and Chapter 163, Florida Statutes. 
 
 
Financial: 
 
N/A. 
 
 
Legal: 
 
Ordinance 2017-04 was prepared in accordance with all applicable state statutes and 
City Code Requirements. 
 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of CPA-16-03 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-04. 
 
 
 
 
 
Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, AICP 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Staff Report 
2. Exhibit “B”, School District CIP 
3. Ordinance 2017-04 

 
 
 



 

 
 
CPA-16-03 (Ord. 2017-04) Page 1 of 6     CIE Update 

 
CPA-16-03 (Ordinance 2017-04) Revised: 02/01/17 
Exhibit “A”    
Date:  January 27, 2017    
 
 
 
 
 
I. Petition: 

 
 Petitioner: City of Greenacres 
 
 Request: Amendments to the Capital Improvement Element 
 

The text amendment will update the Capital Improvement Element within the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 
II. Proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendments: 
 
The following is a proposed comprehensive plan amendment. Items which are proposed for deletion 
are in Strike-Through, items proposed for addition are in Single Underline. 
 
Text Amendment #1: 
 
II. INFORMATION, INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS: 
 

A. DEFINITIONS (omitted for brevity – no text changes) 
 

B.  PUBLIC EDUCATION AND HEALTH SYSTEMS (omitted for brevity – no changes) 
  

C.  CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS NEEDS 
 

Capital Improvements where necessary and appropriate have been identified throughout 
the relevant elements of this plan.  Table No. 1A depicts required City capital 
improvements from the Recreation and Open Space Element, Infrastructure Element 
(Drainage), and Transportation Element necessary to maintain the adopted Level of 
Service. 

 
Table No. 1A indicates the project by description, the target year wherein the project should 
commence to maintain service levels and an estimate of the total project costs.  All projects 
have been grouped by the element requiring the capital improvement.  Footnotes describe 
the funding source. 
 
The projects listed in Table No. 1A do not represent the entire capital improvements 
program for the City. The table merely reflects those improvements necessary to maintain 
the adopted Level of Service for services the City is fully or partly responsible for as shown 
elsewhere in the Comprehensive Plan. 

LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 



 

 
 
CPA-16-03 (Ord. 2017-04) Page 2 of 6     CIE Update 

 
Table No. 1A:  City Of Greenacres Capital Improvements (2016 - 2021) 
 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Recreation 
Community Center Expansion2 3,500,000 0 0 0 0 0 
Stormwater Management and Sewer Extension 
Stormwater Pipe & Basin Replacement1 60,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 
Original Section Drainage Improvements1  195,000 416,000 242,000 220,000 352,000 0 
Transportation 
Bowman Street Improvements3 0 0 0 150,000 0 0 
Dillman Road Sidewalks3 42,250 52,500 0 0 0 0 
TOTAL: 3,797,250 493,500 267,000 395,000 377,000 25,000 

 
Table No. 1A:  City Of Greenacres Capital Improvements (2017 - 2022) 
 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Recreation 
No projects 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Stormwater Management and Sewer Extension 
Stormwater Pipe & Basin Replacement1 157,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 
Original Section Drainage Improvements1  550,008 275,119 253,654 397,708 0 0 
Swain Blvd Sewer1 0 435,000 3,325,000 0 0 0 
Transportation 
Bowman Street Improvements3 0 0 150,000 0 0 0 
Dillman Road Sidewalks3 62,500 0 0 0 0 0 
City Sidewalks3 75,600 288,000 208,800 0 0 0 
Public Buildings 
Public Safety HQ Renovation2 223,650 0 0 0 0 0 
TOTAL: 3,797,250 493,500 267,000 395,000 377,000 25,000 

  
 

1. The stormwater and drainage enhancements are intended to increase the capacity of these older drainage systems 
to improve performance and flood protection.  Total project costs for FY 20162017 through FY 20212022 are 
$1,610,000$1,758,489. Grant funds of $525,767 are anticipated to be provided through Community Development 
Block Grants over the same period.  In FY 2016, revenue of $1,821,771 in interfund transfer, grants and interest 
is budgeted in Fund 304 (Reconstruction and Maintenance).  Expenditures in FY 2016 of $2,148,178 are 
budgeted, including the stormwater drainage enhancements.  The existing Fund 304 balance of  $2,116,723 will 
be used for the net expenditure in FY2016 and to fund the balance of  $1,084,223 needed for the stormwater 
drainage projects ( $1,610,000 – $525,767 grants = $1,084,223) through FY 2021.The Swain Blvd Sewer 
improvements will provide sewer infrastructure and therefore capacity to the Original Section of the City, which 
currently only has septic systems. 

2. The Public Safety HQ Renovation are intended to increase the capacity of the City’s Fire Rescue facilities to 
accommodate additional staff.  Total project costs for FY2017 through FY2022 are $223,650.  The recreation 
enhancements are intended to increase the capacity of the City’s Community Center.  Total project costs for 
FY2016 through FY2021 are $3,500,000.  In FY2016, revenue of $2,335,554 in interfund transfer, interest, impact 
fees, and park land rental (cell tower) is budgeted in Fund 303 (Park and Recreation).  Expenditures in FY 2016 



 

 
 
CPA-16-03 (Ord. 2017-04) Page 3 of 6     CIE Update 

of $3,786,500 are budgeted, including the above enhancement.  The existing Fund 303 balance of $1,361,094 will 
be used for the net expenditure in FY 2016.  

3. The Dillman Road sidewalks will provide safe access for neighborhood kids to the Cholee Lake Elementary 
School.  The Bowman Street improvements will improve a portion of the Bowman Street to City street standards 
where it connects to South Military Trail, an Urban Principal Arterial (UPA) roadway.  The City sidewalks project 
will complete all unfinished links in the City’s sidewalk program.  These improvements are intended to promote 
multi-modal access to an elementary school and bring a roadway connection up to level of service standards.  
Total project costs for FY 2017 through FY 2022 are $244,750$784,900.  In FY 2016, revenue of $184,127 in 
interest, impact fees, and park land rental (cell tower) is budgeted in Fund 301 (New Growth).  Expenditures in 
FY 2016 of $257,250 are budgeted, including the above improvements.  The existing Fund 301 balance of 
$1,389,527 will be used for the net expenditure in FY 2016. 

  
Table No. 1B depicts improvements to the County and State roadway network proposed as 
part of the Palm Beach County’s “Five Year Road Program” and shows projects within or 
adjacent to the City of Greenacres.  The Table is based on the Program as of December 16, 
2015 December 15, 2016.  The Program is funded through a combination of gasoline taxes, 
interest, bonds, impact fees, and miscellaneous revenue, all of which are collected and 
controlled by Palm Beach County. 

 
Table No. 1B:  Palm Beach County Road Program (2016 - 2020) 
Description 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Haverhill Road from Lantana Rd. to S. of  
L-14 Canal (0.9 miles, 2 lanes to 4 lanes) 

3,500,000 0 0 0 
 

0 

Haverhill Road from S. of L-14 Canal to Lake 
Worth Road (1.3 miles, 2 lanes to 5 lanes) 

8,800,000 0                  0 0 
 

0 

Intersection of L.W. Road and Jog Road 0 630,000 0 0 0 
Jog Road Resurfacing (Hypoluxo to 10th 
Ave N.) 

2,100,000 0 0 0 0 

Total Greenacres Area Projects 14,400,000 0 0 0 0 
 

Total Program Revenue 58,396,610 101,815,834 39,894,058 30,713,282 26,710,506 
Total Program Costs 57,890,000 101,270,000 39,130,000 30,641,000 25,980,000 

 
Table No. 1B:  Palm Beach County Road Program (2017 - 2021) 
Description 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Intersection of L.W. Road and Jog Road 630,000 0 0 0 0 
Purdy Lane/Forest Hill Elem School to 
Major Dr 

2,300,000 0 0 0 0 

Total Greenacres Area Projects 2,930,000 0 0 0 0 
 

Total Program Revenue 117,819,000 43,079,000 29,740,000 33,809,000 5,359,000 
Total Program Costs 117,819,000 43,079,000 29,740,000 33,809,000 5,359,000 

 
Table 1C depicts improvements shown in the Palm Beach County Water Utilities 
Department’s “Water Supply Work Plan” (Capital Improvement Plan Detail) and includes 
projects throughout their interconnected system. The table is based on the Capital 
Improvement Plan Detail as of October 21, 2015 October 21, 2016.  All of the projects 
depicted in Table 1C are 100% funded by Water Utility User Fees. 



 

 
 
CPA-16-03 (Ord. 2017-04) Page 4 of 6     CIE Update 

 
 

Table No. 1C:  Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department Capital Improvements (2016-2020) 
Description 2016 2017 2018 2019   2020  
Water Treatment Plant 2 4,709,000 2,236,000 16,043,000 2,421,000 2,000,000 
Water Treatment Plant 3 2,000,000 2,216,000 2,908,000 2,074,000 2,000,000 
Water Treatment Plant 8 18,155,000 2,064,000 5,799,000 2,114,000 2,000,000 

Water Treatment Plant 9 2,900,000 4,538,000 2,185,000 13,179,000 2,334,000 

Wellfield Rehabilitation and 
Construction 

3,380,000 4,289,000 4,313,000 1,236,000 1,000,000 

TOTAL: 31,144,000 15,343,000 31,248,000 21,024,000 9,334,000 

 
Table No. 1C:  Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department Capital Improvements (2017-2021) 
Description 2017 2018 2019 2020   2021  
Water Treatment Plant 2 0 0 15,021,000 0 0 
Water Treatment Plant 9 0 1,750,000 11,560,000 5,749,000 0 
Water Treatment Plant 11 1,101,000 0 0 0 0 

Wellfield Rehabilitation and 
Construction 

1,563,000 8,500,000 6,450,000 7,052,000 0 

TOTAL: 31,144,000 15,343,000 31,248,000 21,024,000 9,334,000 

 
Table 8, below in the Goals, Objectives and Policies Section, depicts the School District of 
Palm Beach County’s Capital Improvement program to maintain the adopted level of 
service.   

 
D.  FINANCIAL CAPABILITY AND FISCAL PRACTICES (omitted for brevity – no 

changes) 
 

E.  AN ASSESSMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES (omitted for brevity – no 
changes) 

 
 F. ANALYSIS OF ISSUES RELATIVE TO CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS (omitted for 

brevity – no changes) 
 
 
Text Amendment #2 to Table 8 on Pages CIE-26 through CIE-32 (7 pages): 
 

Replace existing Table 8 with revised Table 8 attached as “Exhibit B” (7 pages) 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
CPA-16-03 (Ord. 2017-04) Page 5 of 6     CIE Update 

III. Data and Analysis 
 

The Capital Improvement Element (CIE) is a requirement of the 1985 Growth Management 
Legislation which revised Florida Statutes Chapter 163, the Local Government Comprehensive 
Planning and Land Development Regulation Act.  As a result, the CIE becomes a central component 
in the Comprehensive Plan as it enables a municipality to set forth its construction, extension and 
capacity increases in public facilities and services necessary to support development concurrent with 
the impacts of said development. 
 
The purpose of the Capital Improvement Element is to evaluate the need for facilities identified in the 
other Comprehensive Plan Elements and as defined in the applicable definitions for each type of public 
facility, to estimate the cost of improvements for which the City of Greenacres has fiscal responsibility, 
to analyze the fiscal capability of the City to finance and construct improvements, to adopt financial 
policies to guide the funding of improvements and to schedule the funding and construction of 
improvements in a manner necessary to ensure that capital improvements are provided when required, 
based on needs identified in other plan elements. 
 
The CIE was extensively updated in September of 2008 as part of the Evaluation and Appraisal Report 
based amendments (adding Table 1B and updating all projections, for example) and was also updated 
in December of 2008 as part of the Water Supply Facility Work Plan amendments (adding Table 1C).  
According to State Statute, the CIE has been updated annually to reflect the current budget of the City, 
Palm Beach County, and the Palm Beach County School Board. 
 
The subject CIE update is intended to reflect the current fiscal information from the adopted City FY 
2017 budget pertaining to the City’s Capital Improvement Program between the years 2017 through 
2022.  This specifically includes a six (6) year schedule of capital improvements (current fiscal year 
plus five future years).  Also incorporated in the update are the most recent adopted Palm Beach 
County Road Plan and the Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department Capital Improvement Plan.  
In addition, this update also includes the latest proposed Capital Improvement Program of the Palm 
Beach County School District in keeping with Objective 1, Policy d) of the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan Public School Facilities Element. 
 
IV. Consistency with the Strategic Regional Policy Plan and Chapter 163.3184 F.S.: 
 
Overall, the proposed Comprehensive Plan text amendment is consistent with the Treasure Coast 
Regional Planning Council’s Strategic Regional Policy Plan and Chapter 163, F.S. 
 
 
V. Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of CPA-16-03 through the adoption of Ordinance 2017-04. 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 
 
CPA-16-03 (Ord. 2017-04) Page 6 of 6     CIE Update 

 
 

LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY ACTION – February 1, 2017 
 

 
The Local Planning Agency on a motion made by Commissioner Clements seconded by 
Commissioner Friedman, by a vote of six (6) to zero (0), recommended approval of Comprehensive 
Plan Amendment CPA-16-03 (CIE Update), as presented by Staff. 

 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION First Reading – March 6, 2017 

 
 
 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION Adoption Hearing  

 
 
 
 
 
  
                  
        Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor 
 
 

Attest: 
 

 
 
              
        Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
Attachments: 

1. Ordinance 2017-03 
2. Exhibit “B” 

















RESOLUTION NO. 2017-07 
 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, APPROVING THE APPLICATION FOR A 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION TO ALLOW A CONVENIENCE STORE WITH FUEL 
SALES IN A COMMERCIAL INTENSIVE (CI) ZONING DISTRICT, LOCATED 
ON THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LAKE WORTH ROAD AND 
SHERWOOD FOREST BLVD AT 6025 LAKE WORTH ROAD, AS 
REQUESTED BY THE PETITIONER, WANTMAN GROUP, INC., AGENT FOR 
THE OWNER, RACETRAC PETROLEUM, INC.; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL 
OF CONFLICTING RESOLUTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 
 

 WHEREAS, Wantman Group, Inc., hereafter "Petitioner", as agent for the owner, 

Cumberland Farms, Inc., has made an application for a Special Exception approval to allow 

a Full Service Fuel Station to be located within a Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district, 

located at 6025 Lake Worth Road, pursuant to Section 16-499, Commercial Intensive (CI) 

regulations of the Zoning Code; and 

 WHEREAS, the Petitioner presented this matter to the Land Development Staff of 

the City of Greenacres which provided comments to the Planning and Engineering 

Department which, in turn, recommended approval of the Special Exception to allow for a 

Full Service Fuel Station within a Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district, with the 

conditions identified in the Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation, Exhibit 

"A" dated January 27, 2017, as revised; and 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the Petitioner's project for 

compliance with the Special Exception Criteria as indicated by the Findings of Fact 

contained in the Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation and has found that 

the project is in compliance with said criteria; and 



Resolution No. 2017-07 Page No. 2 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on February 1, 2017, 

reviewed the Petitioner's request, and made a recommendation on the petition; and 

 WHEREAS, this matter has been presented to the City Council for final approval, 

and the Council has voted to approve the Special Exception to allow for a Full Service Fuel 

Station within a Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district, subject to the conditions 

stipulated in the Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation at the March 6, 

2017 Public Hearing. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 Section 1.   The Petition, SE-16-03, a Special Exception to allow for a Full Service 

Fuel Station within a Commercial Intensive (CI) zoning district, is hereby approved. 

 Section 2.   The approval of Petition SE-16-03 is subject to all conditions contained 

in the Land Development Staff Report and Recommendation, Exhibit "A", dated January 

27, 2017, as revised (attached).  

 Section 3.   All resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 Section 4.  This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption subject to the 

conditions of Petition SE-16-03. 

 



Resolution No. 2017-07 Page No. 3 
 
 

 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this 6th day of March, 2017. 

            Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Samuel J. Ferreri     Jonathan G. Pearce 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk      Councilwoman, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Councilman, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Paula Bousquet 
       Councilwoman, District V 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 

 

 



CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

Council Agenda Memo 
2017.02KF03.002 

 
 
TO:  Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution 2017-07, SE-16-03 

Special Exception for Convenience Store with Fuel Sales 
RaceTrac Market 
City Council Agenda Item for 03-06-17 

  
DATE:  February 27, 2017 
 
COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
  Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
  File:  SE-16-03 
 
 
 
Background: 
 
Wantman Group, Inc. as agent for RaceTrac Petroleum, Inc. the owner of land totaling 
approximately 1.55 acres is requesting Special Exception approval for a Convenience 
Store with Fuel Sales.  The parcel is located on the northwest corner of Lake Worth Road 
and Sherwood Forest Boulevard at 6025 Lake Worth Road within Sherwood Plaza.  The 
original approved site and development plan was for a unified development with a 15,120 
square foot (sq. ft.) Walgreens Pharmacy with drive thru facilities and a 23,660 sq. ft. retail 
building as Phase 2, approved by City Council on January 19, 1999 (SE-98-04 & SP-98-
07).  The Walgreens Pharmacy is no longer in operation.   
 
Currently, the parcel has a City Future Land Use designation of Commercial (CM) and a 
zoning designation of Commercial Intensive (CI).  On November 21, 2016, the subject 
site was granted a variance for the separation distance requirements of Sec. 16-
499(17)(F), Sec. 16-499(19)(a), and Sec. 16-499(19)(b), which required a minimum 
distance of one thousand five hundred (1,500) feet between any two (2) service stations, 
and a minimum distance of five hundred (500) feet between a service station and the 
nearest point of a building area occupied by these uses: house of worship, school, 
hospital, theatre, auditorium, stadium, assembly hall, or public playground or playfield 
(BA-16-05). A request for site plan approval (SP-16-02) is also being processed 
concurrently. 
 
The Land Development Staff has reviewed this proposal and recommended approval, 



Res. 2017-07 / SE-16-03 
Page 2 

 
 

followed by the Planning Commission recommending approval by a vote of 6-0 at their 
meeting on February 1, 2017.   
 
Analysis: 
 
The applicant is requesting a Special Exception approval to permit a Convenience Store 
with Fuel Sales.  The proposal has satisfied the special exception criteria and findings of 
fact as indicated in the staff report.  Specifically, as conditioned, it will not create a 
nuisance factor detrimental to the adjacent and nearby properties, it is compatible with 
the existing character of this commercial intersection, maintains safe and efficient traffic 
circulation on the site and it will meet all of the specific criteria for this use as security, 
lighting, curbing, setbacks, and loading requirements have been adequately addressed. 
 
Financial: 
 
N/A. 
 
Legal: 
 
Resolution 2017-07 was prepared in accordance with all applicable State Statutes and 
City Code requirements. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of SE-16-03 through the adoption of Resolution 2017-07. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, AICP 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Staff Report 
2. Resolution 2017-07 
3. Aerial Location Map 
4. Site Plan 
 



 

SE-16-03 (Res. No. 2017-07) Page 1 of 6 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

SE-16-03 (Res. 2017-07)        Revised:  02/01/17 
Exhibit "A"               
January 27, 2017 
 
 
 
 
I. Project Description: 

 
 Project Name: RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 
 
 Petitioner: Wantman Group, Inc. (WGI) 

   2035 Vista Parkway 
   West Palm Beach, Florida 33411 
   Agent for the owners: 
   RaceTrac Petroleum, Inc. 

 
Request: Special Exception approval for a 

Convenience Store with Fuel Sales 
 
 Location: Northwest corner of Lake Worth Rd 

and Sherwood Forest Blvd at 6025 
Lake Worth Rd within the Sherwood 
Plaza. 

 
II. Site Data: 
 
 Existing Land Use:   Self-Storage Facility & Vacant retail building 
 
 Proposed Land Use:   Convenience Store with Fuel Sales 
 
 Parcel Control Number:  18-42-44-22-52-001-0000 
        
 Parcel Size:    1.55 acres (67,533.19 square feet) 
 
 Future Land Use Designation: Commercial (CM) 
 
 Existing Zoning:   Commercial Intensive (CI) 
 
Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 
Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Villages of Woodlakes Residential (RS-MD) Residential Medium (RM-2) 

South McDonalds Commercial (CM) Commercial General (CG) 

East Woodlakes Plaza Commercial (CM) Commercial Intensive (CI) 

West Concord Plaza/Shopping 
Center 

Commercial (CM) Commercial General/Planned Shopping 
Center Overlay (CG/PSC) 

 
 

Lake                Worth 

LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 



 

SE-16-03 (Res. No. 2017-07) Page 2 of 6 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
III. Annexation/Zoning History: 
 
On January 29, 1994, the property was annexed into the City of Greenacres as petition (ANX-93-03).  
Concurrently, the City Council approved a zoning district designation of Commercial Intensive (CI) and 
an underlying land use of Commercial (CM).  The designation was for both Phase I & II, which together 
amounted to a 4.33-acre parcel. The original approved site and development plan was for a unified 
development with a 15,120 square feet (sq. ft.) Walgreen's Pharmacy with drive thru facilities and a 
23,660 sq. ft. retail building as Phase 2, approved by City Council on January 19, 1999 (SE-98-04 & SP-
98-07). On July 20, 1999, the site and development plan was approved to modify the access points, 
detention area, and free-standing signs. On March 17, 2000, the site and development plan was approved 
to relocate both free-standing identifications signs, as well as create a landscape island in the southeast 
parking area. On August 5, 2002, phase 2 was amended to allow a 50,900 square foot two story Self 
Storage/Mini-Warehouse facility (SE-02-03 & SP-98-07C).   
 
IV. Applicable City Code Provisions:  
 
Sec. 16-171 through 16-178 pertaining to Special Exceptions 
Sec. 16-496 through 16-506 pertaining to the CI zoning district 
Sec. 16-1241 through 16-1312 pertaining to landscaping 
Sec. 16-1331 through 16-1340 pertaining to off-street parking 
 
V. Summary of Proposed Site and Development Plan Details: 
 
Plan Details: The petitioner's Site and Development Plan (stamp-dated January 05, 2017) depict the 

following: 
 
 1. A total land area of 67,533 sq. ft. (1.55 acres). 

2. One (1) proposed 5,589-sq. ft. Convenience store with 697-sq.ft. outdoor seating area and 8 
fuel  pumps with 16 fueling stations. 

3. Thirty-three (33) parking spaces including two (2) handicapped spaces. 
4. Location for dumpster, which is screened. 
5. Landscaping Plan. 
6. Boundary and Topographic Surveys. 
7. Building Plans and Elevations. 
8. Conceptual Engineering Plan. 

 
Table 2:  Proposed Site Data: 
Area: Square Footage: Acreage: Percentage: 
Full Service Fuel Station 5,589 .13 2.96% 
Self-Service Storage Building Lot Coverage 31,034 .71 16.45% 
Total Lot Coverage 36,623 .84 19.4% 
Site Impervious Area  135,846 3.11 72% 
Site Landscape/Open Space 52,804 1.22 28% 
(Excluding Building Lot Coverage) 188,650 4.33 100% 
 
VI. Staff Analysis: 
 
The proposed Site and Development Plan for a Convenience Store with Fuel Sales is to redevelop the 



 

SE-16-03 (Res. No. 2017-07) Page 3 of 6 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

vacant Walgreens’s Pharmacy site. The proposed use will operate 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.   An 
application for a Site and Development Plan approval (SP-16-02) is being processed concurrently with the 
Special Exception request. In November 21, 2016, the subject site was granted a variance for the 
separation distance requirements of Sec. 16-499(17)(F), Sec. 16-499(19)(a) and Sec. 16-499(19)(b),  
which required a minimum distance of one thousand five hundred (1,500) feet between any two (2) 
service stations, and a minimum distance of five hundred (500) feet between a service station purposes 
and the nearest point of a building area occupied by these uses: house of worship, school, hospital, 
theatre, auditorium, stadium, assembly hall, or public playground or playfield. 
 
On October 13 and 20, 2016, the Land Development Staff reviewed this petition. 
 
Land Development Staff Comments: 
 
 Planning and Engineering Department:  Incorporated into the staff report. 
 Building Department:     Incorporated into the staff report. 
 Fire Rescue Department:     No objections.  
 Public Works Department:    No objections. 
 PBSO District 16:     No objections. 
 
Other Agencies: 
 

PBC Traffic Division:                             Project meets traffic performance standards. 
PBC Water Utilities:                             Water and sewer service is provided to the site              
MPO/Palm Tram:                             Project can be served by existing routes. 
LWDD:                             No impact. 

 
VII. Special Exception Criteria and Findings of Fact: 
 
1. The proposed use complies with all relevant elements of the Comprehensive Plan; 
 

Finding:  The proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales complies with the Future Land use, 
Infrastructure, Intergovernmental and Transportation Elements of the City of Greenacres’ 
Comprehensive Plan. The request complies with the objectives and policies of the City of 
Greenacres’ Comprehensive Plan directing growth and development to appropriate areas. A 
Convenience Store with Fuel Sales is a permitted use in the Commercial Intensive Zoning District 
subject to special exception approval.  

 
2. Ingress and egress to the property and proposed structures thereon with particular 

reference to automotive and pedestrian safety and convenience, traffic flow and control, and 
access in case of fire or catastrophe will not be adversely affected by the proposed special 
exception; 

 
Finding: The proposed Special Exception will have adequate ingress and egress to the site 
through one (1) vehicular access point and one (1) sidewalk connection from Lake Worth Road 
and two (2) vehicular access points from Sherwood Forest Blvd. The plans have been reviewed by 
staff for automobile, pedestrian and fire safety and the plans meet all Code requirements. The 
City’s traffic consultant has reviewed the traffic flow and control of the site for compliance with 
City Code and has determined that it meets all necessary requirements. 

 



 

SE-16-03 (Res. No. 2017-07) Page 4 of 6 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

3. Off-street parking and loading is provided where required, with particular attention to the 
items in (2) above will not adversely affect public health and safety; 

 
Finding:  The off-street parking provided on the site exceeds the minimum parking requirements. 
Defined loading areas have been provided for the site.  

 
4. Refuse and service areas provided with particular reference to items (2) & (3) above will not 

adversely affect public health and safety; 
 

Finding:  The City’s franchise hauler will serve the site for all refuse collection. The dumpster 
meets all City Code requirements of screening and access. 

 
5. The proposed use will not create a nuisance factor detrimental to adjacent and nearby 

properties and the City as a whole; 
 

Finding:  The proposed development has commercial uses to the east, west and south.  The 
proposed development is in keeping with the commercial nature of Lake Worth Road corridor.  
The property will be landscaped along the site perimeter as well as provided interior landscaping 
in accordance with code requirements. 

 
6. The location, availability and compatibility of utilities for the requested use will not 

adversely affect public health and safety; 
 

Finding:  All utilities will be provided underground. The site will be served by Palm Beach 
County Water Utilities for water and sewer. All other utilities are either currently provided to the 
site or readily available and the applicant meets the Level of Service (LOS) as established in the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 
7. The screening and buffering of the requested use are consistent with the applicable zoning 

requirements relative to type, dimension and character; 
 

Finding:  The proposed development includes perimeter buffers consistent with the CI zoning 
district, Section 16-1286 of the landscape code. The site is currently buffered by a ten (10) foot 
wide landscape buffer to the west, fifteen (15) foot wide landscape buffer to the south and east and 
a fifty (50) foot wide landscape buffer and swale to the north side of the site as well as an existing 
six (6) foot high concrete wall. 

 
8. Signs and proposed exterior lighting are provided with reference to glare, traffic safety and 

economic effect, and compatibility and harmony with properties in the district; 
 

Finding:   All proposed signs shall meet the requirements of the City’s Zoning Code.  All exterior 
lighting shall meet City code requirements for limiting spill onto adjacent neighboring residential 
areas and onto major roads. 

 
9. The requested use appears to meet the required yards and other open space; 
 

Finding:  The project complies with the interior and perimeter landscaping and open space 
requirements of the Zoning Code. The lot coverage is well below the maximum 30% and all 
building setbacks of the Commercial Intensive Zoning District and Transitional Zone are being 
met. 



 

SE-16-03 (Res. No. 2017-07) Page 5 of 6 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
10. Proposed general use is compatible with adjoining properties and other property in the 

district; 
 

Finding:  The proposed commercial land use is consistent with the existing high-intensity 
commercial nature along this section of Lake Worth Road and Sherwood Forest Blvd intersection 
and adjacent uses. The subject site is surrounded by commercial uses and the residential 
community to the north is buffered with a fifty (50) foot wide landscape buffer and swale and a six 
(6) foot high concrete wall. 

 
11. The change suggested is not out-of-scale with the needs of the neighborhood or the City; 
 

Finding:   The proposed Convenience Store with Fuel Sales is in scale with the surrounding uses 
and consistent with the commercial development along this portion of Lake Worth Road and 
Sherwood Forest Blvd. 
 

12. The requested use and structure is consistent with any special requirements set out in the 
Schedule of District Regulations for the particular use and structure involved; 
 
Finding:  The proposed use complies with the special requirements as outlined in the Special 
Exception criteria for a Convenience Store with Fuel Sales within the Commercial Intensive (CI) 
zoning district. The separation distance requirements are satisfied via the approved variance (BA-
16-05). 

 
VII. Staff Recommendation:  
 
Based on the preceding analysis, the Land Development Staff recommends Approval of SE-16-03 
through adoption of Resolution 2017-07 with the following conditions: 
 
1. The most stringent requirements of Exhibit "A" Land Development Staff Report and 

Recommendation dated January 27, 2017 and Exhibit "B" Site and Development Plan stamp-dated 
January 5, 2017, as hereafter defined shall apply. (PLANNING-ZONING) 

 
2. Site and Development Plan approval is required prior to the issuance of development permits. 

(PLANNING - BUILLDING) 
 
3. The Special Exception is limited to a Convenience Store with Fuel Sales operation. Changes to 

another use will require a new Special Exception. (PLANNING) 
 

4. Hours of operation for the Convenience Store with Fuel Sales are 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  
(Planning and Building) 

 
5. The proposed convenience store shall have appropriate security systems to include, but not be 

limited to, cameras with video retrieval capabilities. (Public Safety) 
 
6. No coin-operated amusement devices shall be permitted. (Building) 
 
7. Outdoor display of merchandise is prohibited. (Building) 

 
 



 

SE-16-03 (Res. No. 2017-07) Page 6 of 6 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
8. No outdoor speakers shall be permitted, except as necessary to comply with safety or handicap 

accessibility requirements for the gas pumps on site. (Building) 
 

9. Non-compliance with any of the conditions of approvals will result in withholding of the issuance 
of building permits or certificates of occupancy. (BUILDING-PLANNING) 



 

SE-16-03 (Res. No. 2017-07) Page 7 of 6 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION  - February 1, 2017 

 
 
The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Clements and seconded by 
Commissioner Buzek, voting six (6) to zero (0), recommended approval of Special Exception SE-16-03 
(RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza), as presented by staff. 

 
 

 
GREENACRES CITY COUNCIL ACTION  - March 6, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        _________________________________ 
        Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
        _________________________________ 
        Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution 2017-07 
2. Aerial Map 
3. Site Plan 
4. Compliance Statement 

 









CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

Council Agenda Memo 
2017.02KF03.003 

 
 
TO:  Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: SP-16-02 

Site Plan for RaceTrac Market 
City Council Agenda Item for 03-06-17 

  
DATE:  February 27, 2017 
 
COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
  Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
  File:  SP-16-02 
 
 
Background: 
 
Wantman Group, Inc. as agent for RaceTrac Petroleum, Inc. the owner of land totaling 
approximately 1.55 acres, is requesting a site and development plan approval to 
redevelop the previous Walgreens’s Pharmacy site which is currently vacant, with a 5,589 
sq. ft. convenience store, 697 sq. ft. outdoor seating area and 8 pumps/16 fueling stations.   
 
The parcel is located on northwest corner of Lake Worth Road and Sherwood Forest 
Boulevard at 6025 Lake Worth Road within Sherwood Plaza.  The original approved site 
and development plan was for a unified development of a 15,120 square foot (sq. ft.) 
Walgreens Pharmacy with drive thru facilities and a 23,660 sq. ft. retail building as Phase 
2, approved by City Council on January 19, 1999 (SE-98-04 & SP-98-07).   
 
The parcel has a City Future Land Use designation of Commercial (CM) and a zoning 
designation of Commercial Intensive (CI). On November 21, 2016, the subject site was 
granted a variance (BA-16-05) for the separation distance requirements of Sec. 16-
499(17)(F), Sec. 16-499(19)(a), and Sec. 16-499(19)(b), which required a minimum 
distance of one thousand five hundred (1,500) feet between any two (2) service stations, 
and a minimum distance of five hundred (500) feet between a service station and the 
nearest point of a building area occupied by these uses: house of worship, school, 
hospital, theatre, auditorium, stadium, assembly hall, or public playground or playfield.  A 
request for a Special Exception approval (SE-16-03) is being processed concurrently. 
 
The Land Development Staff reviewed this proposal and recommended approval, 
followed by the Planning Commission recommending approval by a vote of 6-0 at their 



SP-16-02 
RaceTrac Market 

Page 2 
 
 

meeting on February 1, 2017.   
 
Analysis: 
 
The petition is for a site and development plan approval to redevelop the Walgreens 
Pharmacy site, which is currently vacant, with a 5,589 square foot convenience store, 697 
square foot outdoor seating area and eight (8) fuel pumps with sixteen (16) fueling 
stations. The parking consists of 33 parking spaces including two (2) handicap spaces 
and has access points from Lake Worth Road and Sherwood Forest Blvd. The subject 
site is adequately buffered by existing 15-foot wide landscape buffers along Lake Worth 
Road and Sherwood Forest Blvd, as well as an existing 6-foot high concrete wall to the 
north adjacent to residential zoning, as required by code. The proposed use will operate 
24 hours a day, 7 days a week.   
 
Financial: 
 
N/A. 
 
Legal: 
 
The site and development plan has been reviewed in accordance with applicable City 
Code requirements. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of SP-16-02, subject to the conditions of approval listed in the staff report. 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, AICP 
Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Staff Report 
2. Site and Development Plans 
3. Aerial Location Map 
 

 
 

























































0  20’  40’     80’

6025 Lake Worth Rd

SE-16-03 and SP-16-02 

Prepared By:

Planning and Engineering  Dept.

City of Greenacres

5800 Melaleuca Lane

Greenacres, FL 33463

0  60’ 120’   240’

PBC

SITE

Greenacres

Warehouse

Offices/Restaurants

Offices

McDonald’s

Tire Kingdom



 

SP-16-02 Page 1 of 7 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

SP-16-02          Revised: 02/01/17 
Exhibit "A"               
January 27, 2017 
 
 
 
 
I. Project Description: 

 
 Project Name: RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 
 
 Petitioner: Wantman Group, Inc. (WGI) 

   2035 Vista Parkway 
   West Palm Beach, Florida 33411 
   Agent for the owners: 
   RaceTrac Petroleum, Inc. 

 
Request: Site and Development Plan approval 

for a Convenience Store with Fuel 
Sales 

 
 Location: Northwest corner of Lake Worth Rd 

and Sherwood Forest Blvd at 6025 Lake  
  Worth Rd within the Sherwood Plaza. 
 
II. Site Data: 
 
 Existing Land Use:   Self-Storage Facility & Vacant retail building 
 
 Proposed Land Use:   Convenience Store with Fuel Sales 
 
 Parcel Control Number:  18-42-44-22-52-001-0000 
        
 Parcel Size:    1.55 acres (67,533.19 square feet) 
 
 Future Land Use Designation: Commercial (CM) 
 
 Existing Zoning:   Commercial Intensive (CI) 
 
Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 
Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 

North Villages of Woodlake Residential (RS-MD) Residential Medium (RM-2) 

South McDonalds Commercial (CM) Commercial General (CG) 

East Woodlake Plaza Commercial (CM) Commercial Intensive (CI) 

West Concord Plaza/Shopping 
Center 

Commercial (CM) Commercial General/Planned Shopping 
Center Overlay (CG/PSC) 

 
 

Lake                Worth 

LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 



 

SP-16-02 Page 2 of 7 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
III. Annexation/Zoning History: 
 
On January 29, 1994, the property was annexed into the City of Greenacres as petition (ANX-93-03).  
Concurrently, the City Council approved a zoning district designation of Commercial Intensive (CI) and 
an underlying land use of Commercial (CM).  The designation was for both Phase I & II, which together 
amounted to a 4.33-acre parcel. The original approved site and development plan was for a unified 
development with a 15,120 square foot (sq. ft.) Walgreens Pharmacy with drive thru facilities and a 
23,660 sq. ft. retail building as Phase 2, approved by City Council on January 19, 1999 (SE-98-04 & SP-
98-07).  
 
On July 20, 1999, the site and development plan was approved to modify the access points, detention 
area, and free-standing signs. On March 17, 2000, the site and development plan was approved to relocate 
both free-standing identifications signs, as well as create a landscape island in the southeast parking area. 
On August 5, 2002, phase 2 was amended to allow a 50,900 square foot two story Self Storage/Mini-
Warehouse facility (SE-02-03 & SP-98-07C).   
 
IV. Applicable City Code Provisions:  
 
Sec. 16-196 through 16-202 pertaining to site and development plans. 
Sec. 16-496 through 16-520 pertaining to the CI District. 
Sec. 16-1241 through 16-1330 pertaining to landscaping. 
Sec. 16-1331 through 16-1335 pertaining to off-street parking. 
Sec. 16-698 pertaining to access for commercial uses. 
Sec. 16-1171 through 16- 1181 pertaining to CI district sign regulations. 
 
V. Summary of Proposed Site and Development Plan Details: 
 
The petitioner's site and development plan (stamp-dated January 05, 2017) depict the following: 
 
 1. A total land area of 67,533 sq. ft. (1.55 acres). 

2. One (1) proposed 5,589-sq. ft. convenience store with 697-sq.ft. Outdoor seating area and 8 
fuel pumps with 16 fueling stations. 

3. Thirty-three (33) parking spaces including two (2) handicapped spaces. 
4. Location for dumpster, which is screened. 
5. Landscape Plan. 
6. Boundary and Topographic Surveys. 
7. Building Plans and Elevations. 
8. Conceptual Civil Engineering Plan. 

 
Table 2:  Proposed Site Data: 
Area: Square Footage: Acreage: Percentage: 
Convenience Store with Fuel Sales 5,589 .13 2.96% 
Self-Service Storage Building Lot Coverage 31,034 .71 16.45% 
Total Lot Coverage 36,623 .84 19.4% 
Maximum Lot Coverage allowed   30% 
Site Impervious Area  135,846 3.11 72% 
Site Landscape/Open Space 52,804 1.22 28% 
(Excluding Building Lot Coverage) 188,650 4.33 100% 



 

SP-16-02 Page 3 of 7 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
 
 
VI. Staff Analysis: 
 
The proposed Site and Development Plan is to redevelop the previous Walgreens Pharmacy site, which is 
currently vacant, with a 5,589 square foot convenience store, 697 square feet of outdoor seating area and 
eight (8) fuel pumps with sixteen (16) fueling stations. The site plan has 33 parking spaces including 2 
handicap spaces and has ingress/egress points from Lake Worth Road and Sherwood Forest Blvd. The 
subject site is adequately buffered by existing 15-foot wide landscape buffers along Lake Worth Road and 
Sherwood Forest Blvd, as well as an existing 6-foot high concrete wall to the north adjacent to residential 
zoning, as required by code. The proposed use will operate 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  
 
An application for a Special Exception approval for a Convenience Store with Fuel Sales (SE-16-03) is 
being processed concurrently with the Site and Development Plan request. On November 21, 2016, the 
subject site was granted a variance for the separation distance requirements of Sec. 16-499(17)(F), Sec. 
16-499(19)(a), and Sec. 16-499(19)(b), which required a minimum distance of one thousand five hundred 
(1,500) feet between any two (2) service stations, and a minimum distance of five hundred (500) feet 
between a service station and the nearest point of a building area occupied by these uses: house of 
worship, school, hospital, theatre, auditorium, stadium, assembly hall, or public playground or playfield. 
 
On October 13 and 20, 2016, the Land Development Staff reviewed this petition.   
 
Land Development Staff Comments: 
 
 Planning and Engineering Department:  Incorporated into the staff report. 
 Building Department:     Incorporated into the staff report. 
 Fire Rescue Department:     No objections.  
 Public Works Department:    No objections. 
 PBSO District 16:     No objections. 
 
Other Agencies: 
 

PBC Traffic Division:                             Project meets traffic performance standards. 
PBC Water Utilities:                             Water and sewer service is provided to the 
site. 
MPO/Palm Tram:                             Project can be served by existing routes. 
LWDD:                             No impact. 

 
Standards And Staff Findings 
 
1. Minimum Lot Requirements:  Site area of 4.33 acres exceeds the minimum area of 2 acres.  

Lot width of 313.47 feet exceeds the minimum width of 200 
feet.  

 
2. Maximum Lot Coverage:  Building coverage of 19.4% does not exceed the maximum 

of 30%. 
 
3. Minimum Yard Requirements: Building setbacks meet all yard requirements of 50’ front, 

25’ side corner, 50’ side interior (transitional) and 30’ rear.  



 

SP-16-02 Page 4 of 7 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
4. Height Restrictions:   The 1-story building height of 25’ for the RaceTrac 

convenience store building does not exceed the allowable 
35'.  

 
5. Off-Street Parking & Loading: The 33 parking spaces meet the minimum code requirement 

of 31 spaces for the subject site. 
 
6. Landscaping:    The landscaping plan complies with the landscape code 

requirements. 
 
7. Sign Regulations:   Permits shall be obtained and signs shall meet code 

requirements prior to installation of any signs. 
 
8. Utilities:    The proposed water, sanitary, sewer and drainage systems 

will meet code requirements subject to final permitting.  
 
9. Concurrency Considerations:  Project traffic meets traffic concurrency. Water and Sewer 

service and capacities are available to serve the site. 
 
10. Comprehensive Plan Considerations: The proposed development is consistent with the land use 

classification of Commercial (CM). 
 
11.  Color Scheme    The color of the RaceTrac gas station building shall be in 

accordance with the plans submitted: Exterior paint to match 
dark bronze. Cast Stone (1102 Natural Stone; Mortar Color 
“Light Buff”); EIFS (Match SW #6094 “Sensational Sand”); 
Metal (match Dark Bronze); Roofing (White); Stacked Stone 
(Mortar Color “Light Buff”); Wood Slats (Walnut QC “SW-
QCWAL-S-0410-12”) 

 
VII. Staff Recommendation:  
 
Based on the preceding analysis, the Land Development Staff recommends Approval of SP-16-02 for a 
Convenience Store with Fuel Sales: 
 
1. The most stringent requirements of Exhibit "A" Land Development Staff Report and 

Recommendation dated January 27, 2017 and Exhibit "B" Site and Development Plan stamp-dated 
January 5, 2017, as hereafter defined shall apply. (Planning) 

 
2. The site shall be developed in accordance with the approved Special Exception (SE-16-03) and 

Variance (BA-16-05). (Planning) 
 
3. An easement abandonment approval for the 20-foot drainage easement must be obtained prior to 

the issuance of building permits. (Planning, Engineering) 
 
4. Permits or permit modifications from the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD), 

the Lake Worth Drainage District (LWDD), and the Florida Department of Transportation 
(FDOT), as required, for the stormwater management system must be obtained prior to the 
issuance of building permits. (Building, Engineering) 



 

SP-16-02 Page 5 of 7 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
5. Permits from the Health Department for modifications to the water and sewer system must be 

obtained prior to the issuance of building permits. (Building, Engineering) 
 
6. Complete drainage calculations addressing water quality and quantity in accordance with the 

requirements of SFWMD must be submitted for review along with complete paving and drainage 
construction plans and subsurface investigation with percolation test prior to the issuance of 
building permits.  (Building, Engineering) 

 
7. In accord with the requirements of the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System 

(NPDES), a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan, Owner/ Operator Certification, and Notice of 
Intent shall be submitted and accepted by the City prior to the issuance of building permits. 
(Building, Public Works) 

 
8. Any portions of the existing site drainage system to remain shall be cleaned to ensure efficient 

operation.  Existing stormwater drain pipes that are no longer in service shall be removed. 
(Engineering) 

 
9. All roof top equipment shall be screened on all four sides consistent with the architecture of the 

building; no equipment shall be taller than the proposed screening. All ground mounted 
mechanical equipment shall be screened on all four sides; no equipment shall be taller than the 
proposed screening.  (Planning, Building) 

 
10. Building wall signs shall be internally illuminated individual channel letters or reverse channel 

letters. No raceways or box signs will be permitted.  (Planning) 
 
11. The dumpster enclosure walls shall match the finish, color, and design elements of the building 

walls and trim. At a minimum, the dumpster enclosure gates shall be of solid 3/4" deep galvanized 
corrugated 22 gauge steel matching the building color.  (Planning) 

 
12. A site clearing and tree removal permit shall be required prior to any clearing activities on site.  

This permit shall demonstrate protection of existing trees to remain. Additions to the landscaping 
plan may be necessary to meet Code requirements if existing material to remain is unsuitable for 
buffer purposes.  (Planning) 

 
13. All existing trees shown to remain on the approved landscape plans shall be maintained in 

perpetuity. In the event they should die, they shall be replaced with like species of a size and 
quantity in accord with the tree credits in Table 16-1271 of the City of Greenacres Code. 
(Planning) 

 
14. In accord with the determination of compliance with the Traffic Performance Standards by Palm 

Beach County Engineering, no building permits shall be issued after the build-out date of 
December 31, 2019 unless a revised traffic study with a later build-out date has been approved by 
the County and a copy of the approval provided to the City of Greenacres. (Planning, Building) 

 
15. A professional engineer, licensed in the State of Florida, is required to certify that the drainage 

improvements have been constructed in accordance with the approved plans prior to the issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy. (Engineering)  

 
16. All utilities and services to the site shall be provided by entities holding valid franchise 



 

SP-16-02 Page 6 of 7 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

agreements with the City.  (Engineering, Building) 
 
17. Outdoor storage of materials and equipment (i.e. merchandise, pallets, etc.) is prohibited. 

(Planning, Building) 
 
18. All advertisements and legal addresses on insurance policies and business correspondence shall 

clearly state that the project is located within the “City of Greenacres”.  (Planning) 
 
19. A Certificate of Occupancy shall be issued only after compliance with all conditions of approval. 

(Building) 
 
20. Non-compliance with any of the conditions of approvals will result in withholding of the issuance 

of building permits or certificates of occupancy. (Building-Planning) 
 
 

 



 

SP-16-02 Page 7 of 7 RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza 

 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION – February 1, 2017 

 
 
The Planning Commission on a motion made by Commissioner Clements and seconded by 
Commissioner Chambers, voting six (6) to zero (0), recommended approval of Site Plan SP-16-02 
(RaceTrac Market at Sherwood Plaza), as presented by staff. 
 
 
 

GREENACRES CITY COUNCIL ACTION  - March 6, 2017 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
        _________________________________ 
        Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
        _________________________________ 
        Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 
Attachments:  
 

1. Site and Development Plan 



0  20’  40’     80’

Dunkin Donut (Buttonwood Plaza)

SP-84-05(G)

Prepared By:

Planning and Engineering  Dept.

City of Greenacres

5800 Melaleuca Lane

Greenacres, FL 33463

0  60’ 120’   240’

PBC

SITE

Buttonwood Plaza

Gas Station



CITY OF GREENACRES 
 

Interoffice Memorandum 
 2017.02KF03.004 

 
 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 
 
THROUGH: Andrea McCue, City Manager 
 
FROM: Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, AICP,   Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: SP-84-05(G) 

Site Plan Amendment for Buttonwood Plaza (Dunkin Donuts) 
City Council Agenda Item for 03-06-2017 

 
DATE:  February 27, 2017 
 
COPIES: James D. Stokes, City Attorney 
  Denise McGrew, City Clerk 
  File:  SP-85-05(G) 
 
 
 
Background: 
 
Covenant Construction, LLC, as agent for the owner Buttonwood Plaza, Ltd., is 
requesting an amendment to the site and development plan for a Drive-In/Fast Food 
Restaurant.  The Special Exception (SE-05-03) and Site Plan (SP-84-05C) were originally 
approved by the City Council on November 6, 2006.  Since that time, the developer has 
built the building along Jog Road and has been working to obtain the City’s release of any 
obligations from the development order.   
 
Analysis: 
 
The proposed amendment will delete Condition #32 of the approval of (SP-84-05C) which 
prohibited furnishing at the restaurant to remain outside when the restaurant closes. The 
removal of this condition will allow the fast food restaurant to have permanent outside 
seating. 
 
Overall, staff finds that the proposed modifications are reasonable and in compliance with 
the City of Greenacres Zoning Code, the parameters of the originally approved Special 
Exception and Site and Development Plan (SE-05-03 and SP-84-05(C), respectively), 
and the City Council’s intent in placing the original condition.  During the public hearing, 
board members were concerned with the liability associated with lightweight tables and 
chairs, so a condition was added to bring any outdoor seating into the building each 



SP-84-05(G) 
Page 2 

 
evening.  The applicant decided to utilize concrete tables and chairs, which are too heavy 
to bring in every evening and do not create the issues associated with the application of 
the condition of approval. 
 
Legal: 
 
The site and development plan amendment has been reviewed in accordance with 
applicable City Code requirements. 
 
Financial: 
 
N/A. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Approval of SP-84-05(G) subject to staff conditions as contained in the staff report dated 
February 24, 2017. 
 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Kara L. Irwin-Ferris, AICP  
Acting Planning and Engineering Director 
 
 
Attachments: 

1) Staff Report 
 

 



SP-84-05G Page 1 of 6 Dunkin Donuts (Buttonwood Plaza) 

SP-84-05(G)         Revised:   
Exhibit "A"               
Date: February 24, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
I. Project Description: 
 
 Project: Buttonwood Plaza 
 
 Petitioner: Covenant Construction, LLC. 
  6869 Blue Bay Circle 
  Lake Worth, FL 33467 
  Agent for the owner: 
  Buttonwood Plaza, Ltd. 
 
 Request: Site Plan Amendment to remove  
                                 previously approved condition of 
  approval for drive-thru restaurant 
 
 Location: Buttonwood Plaza outparcel 

located at 3098 S. Jog Road  
 
II. Site Data: 
 
 Existing Land Use:   Drive-In/Fast Food Restaurant and Retail 
                                                                             
 Proposed Land Use:  Drive-In/Fast Food Restaurant and Retail 
 
 Parcel Control Number:   18-42-44-22-38-002-0000 
 
 Parcel Size:     5.752 acres (250,579 square feet) 
 
 Future Land Use Designation:  Commercial (CM) 
 
 Zoning District:  Commercial General (CG) 
 

Table 1:  Surrounding Existing Land Use, Future Land Use, Zoning District: 
Direction Existing Land Use Future Land Use Zoning District 
North Gas Station and 

Barclay Square Plaza 
Commercial (CM) 
 

Commercial General (CG) 

South Atlantis Skateway Commercial (CM) 
 

Commercial General (CG) 

East Buttonwood West 
(Single-Family) 

Residential-Medium Density  
(RS-MD) 

Residential Medium-1 (RM-1) 

West Greenacres Farmers 
Market / Gas Station 

Commercial (CM)  Commercial General (CG) 

LAND DEVELOPMENT STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

SITE



SP-84-05G Page 2 of 6 Dunkin Donuts (Buttonwood Plaza) 

 
III. Annexation/Zoning History: 
 
When the shopping center was approved in 1984, it was zoned Community Commercial (CC).  In 
1990, the City initiated a rezoning of the Community Commercial (CC) zoning district to Commercial 
General (CG) with an underlying land use of Commercial (CM).   
 
The 5.752-acre site received site and development plan approval by the Greenacres City Council on 
July 30, 1984 as petition SP-84-05 through Ordinance 84-30 and was proposed as a commercial retail 
center known as Buttonwood Plaza.  At that time, the subject site was approved for a 46,200 square 
foot inline shopping center and three outbuildings (two for financial institutions with drive thru lanes 
and one for a restaurant) totaling to 50,855 square feet. Since then, there have been six site & 
development plan amendment petitions: SP-84-05(A) to correct and amend information on the 
drawings. SP-84-05(B) to add 30 additional parking spaces to the site in lieu of one of the 
outbuildings. SP-84-05(C) and (SE-05-03) to add a freestanding 6,300 square foot retail building and a 
freestanding 1,400 square foot drive-in/fast food restaurant with a drive thru and attached 1,560 square 
foot retail building. SP-84-05(D) was administratively withdrawn due to lack of activity on the 
petition. SP-84-05(E) to add an Artisans’ Market to be held on Sundays from 11:00 am to 4:00 pm 
from October to March of each year and SP-84-05(F) to modify the drive-in/fast food restaurant’s 
drive-thru and the landscape plan as built. 
 
IV. Applicable City Code Provisions:  
 
Sec. 16-211 through 16-216 pertaining to Amendments to Approved Special Exceptions and Site Plans 
Sec. 16-471 through 16-481 pertaining to the Commercial General (CG) zoning district 
 
V. Summary of Proposed Site and Development Plan Details:  
 
The petitioner’s previously approved site and development plans stamp-dated November 16, 2016 
depict the following: 
 

1. A total land area of 5.752-acres (250,579 square feet). 
2. A freestanding 27-seat Drive-In/Fast Food Restaurant of 1,400 square feet with one 

drive thru lane and one partial bypass lane attached to a 1,560 square foot retail 
building. 

3. A freestanding 6,300 square feet retail building. 
4. Proposed parking totaling 280 spaces, including 12 handicap spaces. 
5. Two existing vehicular access points, one each on Jog Road and 10th Avenue North, 

shared between the shopping center and the two proposed outbuildings. 
6. Two proposed pedestrian connections, one each to the public sidewalks on Jog 

Road and 10th Avenue North. 
7. Two dumpsters and recycling areas with masonry wall enclosures and opaque gates 

for the new buildings. 
8. Landscape plan. 
9. Architectural plans and elevations with colors and materials for the new buildings 

harmonious with the existing shopping center.  
10. Survey. 
11. Photometric Plan. 
12. Civil Plan. 



SP-84-05G Page 3 of 6 Dunkin Donuts (Buttonwood Plaza) 

 
 

Table 2:  Proposed Site Data: 
Area: Square 

Footage: 
Acreage: Percentage: 

Building Lot Coverage 
(including canopy) 

56,181 1.290 22.4% 

Site Impervious Area  
(excluding building lot coverage) 

112,187 2.575 44.8% 

Site Landscape Area 82,211 1.887 32.8% 
Total 250,579 5.752 100% 
Total Floor Area 55,460 1.273 0.22 FAR 

 
VI. Staff Analysis: 
 
Background: 
 
Condition #32, was brought up during the Planning Commission’s review of SP-84-05C, which was a 
site plan amendment to add a Drive-In/Fast Food restaurant and a freestanding retail building to the 
existing plaza. At the public meeting on October 18, 2006, an issue was raised regarding the adjacent 
skating rink and concerns for the outdoor seating being vandalized and/or occupied until the early 
morning hours by people exiting the skating rink and then loitering at the Dunkin Donuts site after 
hours. 
 
According to the applicant, the outdoor seats are made of concrete and attached permanently to the 
floor, therefore they are unable to bring them inside every night. The applicant is requesting to remove 
this condition of approval and allow restaurant furnishing to remain outside.  
 
On January 19, 2017, the Land Development Staff reviewed this petition and recommended approval 
subject to the conditions of approval in this staff report. 
 
Land Development Staff Comments: 
 

Planning and Engineering Department: Incorporated into the staff report. 
Building Department: No objections. 
Public Safety Department: No objections. 
Public Works Department: No objections. 

 
Other Agency Comments: 
 

PBC Traffic Division: N/A 
PBC Water Utilities: N/A 
MPO/Palm Tran: N/A 
LWDD:  N/A 

 
Standards and Staff Findings: 
 
1. Minimum Lot Requirements:   Overall site area of 5.752 acres exceeds the minimum 

area of 1.0 acres for the CG district. 



SP-84-05G Page 4 of 6 Dunkin Donuts (Buttonwood Plaza) 

 
2. Maximum Lot Coverage: Building lot coverage of 22.4% does not exceed the 

maximum allowable lot coverage of 30%. 
 

3. Minimum Yard Requirements: Building setbacks meet all yard requirements of 50’ 
  front, 15’ side interior, 25’ rear and 20’ side corner. 
 
4. Height Restrictions: The building height of 23’-3” does not exceed the 

maximum allowable height of 35'. 
 
5. Off-Street Parking & Loading: The 280 total parking spaces meet the code requirement 

of 280 spaces based on a parking rate of 1 space per 3 
seats for Drive-In/Fast Food Restaurant and 1 space per 
200 sq. ft. of retail building. 

 
6. Landscaping: The landscaping plan complies with landscape code 

requirements. 
 
7. Sign Regulations: Permits shall be obtained prior to installation of any 

signage. 
 
8. Utilities: The proposed water, sanitary sewer and drainage systems 

will meet code requirements subject to final permitting.  
 
9. Concurrency: Project meets traffic concurrency.  Water and Sewer 

service and capacities are available to serve the site. 
 
10. Comprehensive Plan: The proposed development is consistent with the future 

land use classification of Commercial (CM) and the 
proposed floor area ratio of .22 does not exceed the 
maximum of .35 FAR for the CG zoning district. 

 
11. Color Scheme: The color of all buildings on site shall be in accordance 

with the Site & Development plans submitted: Sherwin 
Williams SW510 (Hunter Green) - Roof Barrel Tile, 
Sherwin Williams SW6371 (Vanilla) – Trim, and 
Sherwin Williams SW6128 Blonde – Body Color. 

 
 
VII. Staff Recommendation:  
 
Approval of SP-84-05(G) with the following conditions: 
 
1. The most stringent requirements of Exhibit "A" Land Development Staff Report and 

Recommendation dated January 30, 2007 and previously approved Exhibit "B" Site and 
Development Plan stamp-dated November 16, 2016, as hereafter defined shall apply. (Planning) 

 
2. The site shall be developed in accord with the approved Special Exception (SE-05-03).  (Planning) 
 



SP-84-05G Page 5 of 6 Dunkin Donuts (Buttonwood Plaza) 

3. All conditions of approval of SP-84-05 and SP-84-05(F) not specifically modified by this 
amendment shall remain in effect. (Planning) 

 
4. Condition #32 of SP-84-05(C) is to be stricken as follows: Furnishing at the restaurant are to be 

brought in when the restaurant closes. (Planning)  
 
5. All advertisements and legal addresses on insurance policies and business correspondence shall 

clearly state that the project is located within the “City of Greenacres”.  (Planning) 
 
6. Non- compliance with any of the conditions of approval will result in withholding of the issuance 

of building permits or a Certificate of Occupancy.  (Planning and Building) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SP-84-05G Page 6 of 6 Dunkin Donuts (Buttonwood Plaza) 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION  
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Samuel J. Ferreri, Mayor 
 
 

Attest: 
 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
  
Attachments:  

1. Site and Development Plan Packet 
2. Aerial Location Map 



F1 Development Team
Ell

CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Petition Number SP - 84- 05C / SE - 05- 03

L- 10 CANAL

Name of Project Buttonwood Plaza

MAX. BLDG

Existing Use Retail

J_ 

Proposed Use Drive In Fast Food Restaurant/ Retail

PERU. AREA

Future Land Use Designation CM

Q

I Oth AVENUE NORTH

Zoning District CG

1. 0
CG AL

Section, Township, Range 22/ 44/ 42

Property Control Numbers 18- 42-- 44- 22- 38- 002- 0000

35' 50' 

Traffic Analysis Zone 333

Total Site Area 250, 580 s. f. / 5. 752 Acres

Total Gross Floor Area 55, 460 s. f. 

THIS SITE J

Ex. Retail 46, 200 s. f. 

Proposed Retail 7, 860 s. f. 

CG 5AC 2

Proposed Fast Food 1, 400 s. f. 

Total Floor Area Ratio . 22

L- 11 CANAL

Total Building Coverage 22% 

W

Including canopy 721 s. f.) 

Impervious Area 67% 

F1 Development Team
Ell

CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Petition Number SP - 84- 05C / SE - 05- 03

ZONING MINIMUM LOT DIMENSIONS MAX. 

Name of Project Buttonwood Plaza

MAX. BLDG

Existing Use Retail

FORMS, INC. INTENDED USE IS LIMITED TO DESIGN PROFESSIONALS SPECIFYING LANDSCAPE

Proposed Use Drive In Fast Food Restaurant/ Retail

PERU. AREA

Future Land Use Designation CM

R I REAR

Zoning District CG

1. 0
CG AL

Section, Township, Range 22/ 44/ 42

Property Control Numbers 18- 42-- 44- 22- 38- 002- 0000

35' 50' 

Traffic Analysis Zone 333

Total Site Area 250, 580 s. f. / 5. 752 Acres

Total Gross Floor Area 55, 460 s. f. 

Ex. Retail 46, 200 s. f. 

Proposed Retail 7, 860 s. f. 

CG 5AC 2

Proposed Fast Food 1, 400 s. f. 

Total Floor Area Ratio . 22

23'- 3" 76' 

Total Building Coverage 22% 

W

Including canopy 721 s. f.) 

Impervious Area 67% 

Buildings 55,586 s. f. 

Z O

Pavement/ Walks 166, 687

1r!, c

Pervious Area 33% 

H " 

Green Space 82, 211 s. f. 

f- 

Number of Seats max. 18

Building Height max. 35' 

Proposed Building Height max. 23'- 3" 

W

n

Number of Stories 1

n'

V

W

Finish Grad Elevation from NGVD 18. 5

N v
L

Parking Required 280 SPACES

Retail- 1 Space/ 200 S. f. @ 54,060 S. f. = 271

GALVANIZED METAL GATE FRAME

Fast Food- 1 Space/ 3 interior Seats ® 18 Seats = 6

Outdoor Dining- 1 Space/ 3 Seats U 9 Seats Max = 3

O
Iz F- 

Proposed Parking 280 SPACES

Handicap Spaces Required 6

Ir

oQ

Handicap Spaces Proposed 12

Q N

Loading Required ( 15' x 55' Min.) * 1

W/ 3 N0, 5 HORZ

Loading Provided 2

F1 Development Team
Ell

CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

DEVELOPER: SOUTHEAST PROPERTIES

ZONING MINIMUM LOT DIMENSIONS MAX. MINIMUM MAX. BLDG MAX. BLDG. SETBACKS SEPARATIONS

FORMS, INC. INTENDED USE IS LIMITED TO DESIGN PROFESSIONALS SPECIFYING LANDSCAPE

DISTRICT SIZE WIDTH I DEP"rH FAR PERU. AREA I CO R I REAR

o
1. 0

CG AL 150' 250' . 30 35% 35' 50' 15' 20' 25' 

ENGINEER: 5601 CORPORATE WAY, SUITE 200
WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33407

561) 478- 7848

0 CG 5AC2
280' 597' . 22 22% 23'- 3" 76' 30' 86' 58. 5' 

W

to n
a

Z O

F1 Development Team
Ell

e

DEVELOPER: SOUTHEAST PROPERTIES

I— 

1645 SE 3RD COURT # 200

AR

DEERFIELD BEACH, FLORIDA 33441

FORMS, INC. INTENDED USE IS LIMITED TO DESIGN PROFESSIONALS SPECIFYING LANDSCAPE

561) 627- 6222

SURVEYOR: CONSUL - TECH Surveying & Mapping, Inc. 

VEGETABLE

3141 COMMERCE PARKWAY

01995 LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

MIRAMAR, FLORIDA 33025. 

N

954) 438- 4300

CIVIL/ TRAFFIC SIMMONS AND WHITE ENGINEERING
ENGINEER: 5601 CORPORATE WAY, SUITE 200

WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33407
561) 478- 7848

ARCHITECT: EDWARD M. GHEZZI

Q

9595 N. KENDALL DRIVE SUITE 101

STOP BAR

MIAMI, FLORIDA 33176
305) 596- 3800

o BASE INFORMATION FOR THIS PROJECT WAS OBTAINED FROM A SURVEY
PREPARED BY CONSUL - TECH ENGINEERING BUTTONWOOD SURVEY.DWG

OSUNDAY THROUGH TUESDAY HOURS OF OPERATION 7: 00 AM - 1: 00 AM

FRIDAY AND SATURDAY HOURS OF OPERATION 7: 00 AM - 1: 00 AM

Cm

CG

GAS STATION

E' Dumpster D- E. 

BARCLAY SQUARE
S 89° 00' 36" E

10TI = AVENUE NORTH

F

e

rirfLE: 21- 112" WX43' H- PI RACK - SURFACE MOUNT

I— 

3/ 4" PAINTED STUCCO BOTH SIDES OF WALL
COLOR TO MATCH BUILDING

AR

PATENT: D374, 849

FORMS, INC. INTENDED USE IS LIMITED TO DESIGN PROFESSIONALS SPECIFYING LANDSCAPE

o' HT. 8" CONC. BLOCK WALL W/ 

DATE: 08- 26- 02

VEGETABLE
LLJ

01995 LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

MARKET

N

2' 

SOLID OPAQUE DOORS

Z

3. 5' 

Q

STOP BAR

DK

i

W

to n
a

Z O
F - 

1r!, c

O (7) H " 

d

f- 
w

U ZQ

N

W

n
OU mD' 

n'

V

W

N v
L

GALVANIZED METAL GATE FRAME

O
Iz F- 

w

w
W

N

Ir

oQ
Q N 0a

W/ 3 N0, 5 HORZ

Dz I 00

GALVANIZED METAL GATE FRAME — 

u~_ 
Z W

6" CONC. SLAB W 6X6 W. W. M. W/ 2" X 2" TUBING & LATCH

OY) 

E' Dumpster D- E. 

BARCLAY SQUARE
S 89° 00' 36" E

10TI = AVENUE NORTH

F

431 L\ WNDALE AVE. PHONE: 800- 521- 2546
rirfLE: 21- 112" WX43' H- PI RACK - SURFACE MOUNT

KALAIAAZOO, MI 49048 FAX: 269- 381- 3455

3/ 4" PAINTED STUCCO BOTH SIDES OF WALL
COLOR TO MATCH BUILDING

6" X 8" TIE BEAM 6" X 8" TIE BEAM
30" ht. Shrub

W/ 2 NO. 5 CONT. W/ 2 NO. 5 CONT. 2' o. c. 

PATENT: D374, 849

FORMS, INC. INTENDED USE IS LIMITED TO DESIGN PROFESSIONALS SPECIFYING LANDSCAPE

o' HT. 8" CONC. BLOCK WALL W/ 
3. 5' CLEAR

DATE: 08- 26- 02

DISCLOSED TO OTHERS WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. 

VERT. REBAR

01995 LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

2' 

SOLID OPAQUE DOORS

FFM
3. 5' 

STOP BAR

i

to n
a

FINISH
GRADE ao 1r!, c

d

N

n'

V

W

GALVANIZED METAL GATE FRAME
W/ 2" X 2" TUBING & LATCH

12" X 16" CONC. FOOTING
W/ 3 N0, 5 HORZ

GALVANIZED METAL GATE FRAME — 
6" CONC. SLAB W 6X6 W. W. M. W/ 2" X 2" TUBING & LATCH

2% SLOPE ON PAD STEEL GATE POST

Min. CIWurance

14' RIGHT- OF- WAY TO
PALM BEACH COUNTY

PER PLAT

81/ 1' 

31
49/ 16° 

21 1/ 2° — 
2' 

43" 

SPACING DIAGRAM

L A N D S C A P E F O R M S" 

431 L\ WNDALE AVE. PHONE: 800- 521- 2546
rirfLE: 21- 112" WX43' H- PI RACK - SURFACE MOUNT

KALAIAAZOO, MI 49048 FAX: 269- 381- 3455 DE21GN. PI RACK ( POWDER COATED IVY FINISH) 

CONFIDENTIAL DRAWING INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS THE PROPERTY OF LANDSCAPE PATENT: D374, 849

FORMS, INC. INTENDED USE IS LIMITED TO DESIGN PROFESSIONALS SPECIFYING LANDSCAPE FILA: PI9501

FORMS, INC. PRODUCTS AND THEIR DIRECT CLIENTS. DRAWING IS NOT TO BE COPIED OR DATE: 08-26- 02

DISCLOSED TO OTHERS WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. AUTHOR: LAD

01995 LANDSCAPE FORMS, INC. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

m a v a

CG

VACANT

OVERHEAD

WIRES

CONCRETE
DUMPSTER PAD

TYPICAL) 

6' C. B. S WALL

0. 3'( W) 

EM

RMI

RESIDENTIAL

RECEIVED by
CITY OF GREENACRES

Nov 1 6 2010

PLANNING & ENGINEERING

8 05i 

PLANXMR'G D1 P"T TEVIPLr' i ' 

CASE 9 SP -84-05F

PROJECT NAME ButtonwoodPnlaza

PCN 18- 42-44- 22-60- 000- 0020

ADDRESS 3098 S. Jog Road

APPROVAL DATE December 7, 2016

Jon E. Schmidt and Associates
Landscape Architecture & Site Planning
2247 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.- Suite 101

West Palm Beach, Florida 33409

Tel. ( 561) 684- 6141 . Fax. ( 561) 684-6142

E- mail: Jschmidt@jesla. com

License No.: LC26000232

Date: 8/ 15/ 05

Scale: 1" = 40. 0" 

Design By: JES

Drawn By: JES

Checked By: Jes

File No. 412.01

Job No. 05-23

REVISIONS / SUBM1SSlC hJS

6/ 19/ 06 Staff Review

8/ 31/ 06 DRC Cornments

9/ 12/ 06 Review Comments

11/ 03/ 14 Revised Footrxint

1 1 107116 Drive Through Rev _ 



Develov-
ment Rervulaftons8

Il CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

ZONING MINIMUM LOT DIMENSIONS

DISTRICT SIZE WIDTH I DEPTH— d
MAX. 

FAR

Petition Number SP - 84- 05C / SE - 05- 03

L- 10 CANAL

Name of Project Buttonwood Plaza

18- 42- 44- 22- 60- 000- 0020

Existing Use Retail

3098 S. Jog Road

Proposed Use Drive In Fast Food Restaurant/ Retail

December 7, 2016

Q 10th AVENUE NORTH

Zoning District CG

O

250' 

Property Control Numbers 18- 42-- 44- 22- 38- 002- 0000

Traffic Analysis Zone 333

THIS

Total Site Area 250, 580 s. f. / 5. 752 Acres

Total Gross Floor Area 55, 460 s. f. 

SITE

Ex. Retail 46, 200 s. f. 

Proposed Retail 7, 860 s. f. 

Proposed Fast Food 1, 400 s. f. 

CG C. 280' 597' . 22 --- 22% 

Total Floor Area Ratio . 22

L- 11 CANAL

Total Building Coverage 22% 

Including canopy 721 s. f.) 

iievelopmentTei

Impervious Area 67% 

Develov-
ment Rervulaftons8

Il CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

ZONING MINIMUM LOT DIMENSIONS

DISTRICT SIZE WIDTH I DEPTH— d
MAX. 

FAR

Petition Number SP - 84- 05C / SE - 05- 03

MAX. BLDGJ
I COVER

Name of Project Buttonwood Plaza

18- 42- 44- 22- 60- 000- 0020

Existing Use Retail

3098 S. Jog Road

Proposed Use Drive In Fast Food Restaurant/ Retail

December 7, 2016

Future Land Use Designation CM

Zoning District CG

Section, Township, Range 22/ 44/ 42

250' 

Property Control Numbers 18- 42-- 44- 22- 38- 002- 0000

Traffic Analysis Zone 333

35' 50' 

Total Site Area 250, 580 s. f. / 5. 752 Acres

Total Gross Floor Area 55, 460 s. f. 

Ex. Retail 46, 200 s. f. 

Proposed Retail 7, 860 s. f. 

Proposed Fast Food 1, 400 s. f. 

CG C. 280' 597' . 22 --- 22% 

Total Floor Area Ratio . 22

a

Total Building Coverage 22% 

Including canopy 721 s. f.) 

iievelopmentTei

Impervious Area 67% 

Buildings 55, 586 s. f. 

Pavement/ Walks 166, 687

Pervious Area 33% 

Green Space 82, 211 s. f. 

Number of Seats max. 18

Building Height max. 35' 

Proposed Building Height max. 23'- 3" 

Number of Stories 1

Finish Grad Elevation from NGVD 18. 5

Parking Required 280 SPACES

Retail— 1 Space/ 200 S. f. @ 54,060 S. f. = 271

Fast Food— 1 Space/ 3 Interior Seats 0 18 Seats = 6

Outdoor Dining— 1 Space/ 3 Seats d 9 Seats Max = 3

Proposed Parking 280 SPACES

Handicap Spaces Required 6

Handicap Spaces Proposed 12

Loading Required ( 15' x 55' Min.) * 1

Loading Provided 2

Develov-
ment Rervulaftons8

Il CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

15' 20' 1 25' 

30' 86' 1 58. 5' 

ZONING MINIMUM LOT DIMENSIONS

DISTRICT SIZE WIDTH I DEPTH—d
MAX. 

FAR

MINIMUM

PERV. AREA
MAX. BLDGJ

I COVER
MAX. BLDG. 

HEIGHT FROM

18- 42- 44- 22- 60- 000- 0020

DEERFIELD BEACH, FLORIDA 33441

3098 S. Jog Road

561) 627- 6222

December 7, 2016

SURVEYOR: CONSUL— TECH Surveying & Mapping, Inc. 

o CG AC 150' 250' 30 35% 35' 50' 

ENGINEER: 5601 CORPORATE WAY, SUITE 200
WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33407

561) 478- 7848

ARCHITECT: EDWARD M. GHEZZI

a: 5. 752
0 CG C. 280' 597' . 22 --- 22% 23'- 3" 76' 

a

305) 596- 3800

iievelopmentTei

15' 20' 1 25' 

30' 86' 1 58. 5' 

1: 11, - 
o BASE INFORMATION FOR THIS PROJECT WAS OBTAINED FROM A SURVEY

PREPARED BY CONSUL - TECH ENGINEERING BUTTONWOOD SURVEY. DWG

SUNDAY THROUGH TUESDAY HOURS OF OPERATION 7: 00 AM — 1: 00 AM

FRIDAY AND SATURDAY HOURS OF OPERATION 7: 00 AM — 1: 00 AM

v

Q

U) U) 
0

v

0

14' RIGHT— OF— WAY TO

PALM BEACH COUNTY

PER PLAT

42 LO

Cd

j

61

Ln

N

P-. O. Y

j;
A

I

0 ' ILI :- 4. 
I I

FAl
o! A

4

T7

0

id

RFCEIV' FD by
CITY OF GRtF,\ i, rp < 

NOV 1 6 2J) r, 

PLANNING & ENGINEERING

F

y'. i$YaA+" w[ Ss$,' 13+ i- 3', ePz' a' Y^.* ifm..- 

PLAi° dlNING DEPT TLIWPL 11G

SP - 84- 05F

DEVELOPER: SOUTHEAST PROPERTIES

Buttonwood Plaza

1645 SE 3RD COURT # 200

18- 42- 44- 22- 60- 000- 0020

DEERFIELD BEACH, FLORIDA 33441

3098 S. Jog Road

561) 627- 6222

December 7, 2016

SURVEYOR: CONSUL— TECH Surveying & Mapping, Inc. 
3141 COMMERCE PARKWAY

MIRAMAR, FLORIDA 33025. 

954) 438- 4300

CIVIL/ TRAFFIC SIMMONS AND WHITE ENGINEERING

ENGINEER: 5601 CORPORATE WAY, SUITE 200
WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33407
561) 478- 7848

ARCHITECT: EDWARD M. GHEZZI
9595 N. KENDALL DRIVE SUITE 101
MIAMI, FLORIDA 33176

305) 596- 3800

1: 11, - 
o BASE INFORMATION FOR THIS PROJECT WAS OBTAINED FROM A SURVEY

PREPARED BY CONSUL - TECH ENGINEERING BUTTONWOOD SURVEY. DWG

SUNDAY THROUGH TUESDAY HOURS OF OPERATION 7: 00 AM — 1: 00 AM

FRIDAY AND SATURDAY HOURS OF OPERATION 7: 00 AM — 1: 00 AM

v

Q

U) U) 
0
v

0

14' RIGHT— OF— WAY TO

PALM BEACH COUNTY

PER PLAT

42 LO

Cd

j

61

Ln

N

P-. O. Y

j;
A

I

0 ' ILI :-4. 
I I

FAl
o! A

4

T7

0

id

RFCEIV' FD by
CITY OF GRtF,\ i, rp < 

NOV 1 6 2J) r, 

PLANNING & ENGINEERING

F

y'. i$ YaA+" w[ Ss$,' 13+ i- 3', ePz' a' Y^.* ifm..- 

PLAi° dlNING DEPT TLIWPL 11G

CASE # SP - 84- 05F

PROJECT NAME Buttonwood Plaza

PCN 18- 42-44-22- 60- 000- 0020

ADDRESS 3098 S. Jog Road

APPROVAL DATE December 7, 2016

ion E. Schmidt and Associates
Landscape Architecture & Site Planning
2247 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.- Suite 101

West Palm Beach, Florida 33409

Tel. ( 561) 684- 6141 . Fax. ( 561) 684-6142

E- mail: Jschmidt@jesla. com

License No.: LC26000232

Date: 8/ 15/ 05

Scale: 1" = 20'-0" 

Design By: JES

Drawn By: JES

Checked By: Jes

File No. 412.01

Job No. 05-23

REVISIONS / SUBMISSIONS

6/ 19/ 06 Staff Review

8/ 31& 6DRC Comments

9/ 12/ 06 Review Comments

11 / 03/ 14 Revised Footprint

11/ 0// I- 6Drivei r —u -q F ev



M—' Location Map

F- 1 site Data

CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

4 1. 4

Petition Number SP - 84- 05C / SE - 05- 03

L- 10 CANAL

Name of Project Buttonwood Plaza

BLDG

Existing Use Retail

SETBACKS SEPARATIONS

Proposed Use Drive In Fast Food Restaurant/ Retail

Future Land Use Designation CM

rr

10th AVENUE NORTH

Zoning District CG

I FAR

0

THIS

Property Control Numbers 18- 42- 44- 22- 38- 002- 0000

0

0

150' 250' 

Total Site Area 250, 580 s. f. 5. 752 Acres

Total Gross Floor Area 55, 460 s. f. 

SITE

Ex. Retail 46, 200 s. f. 

20' 

Proposed Retail 7, 860 s. f. 

Proposed Fast Food 1, 400 s. f. 

CD

Total Floor Area Ratio . 22

L- 11 CANAL

Total Building Coverage 22% 

0

N
C) 

Including canopy 721 s. f.) 
Impervious Area 67% 

F- 1 site Data

ElI CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

4 1. 4

Petition Number SP - 84- 05C / SE - 05- 03

I MAX. 

Name of Project Buttonwood Plaza

BLDG

Existing Use Retail

SETBACKS SEPARATIONS

Proposed Use Drive In Fast Food Restaurant/ Retail

Future Land Use Designation CM

1:
11ZONING

Zoning District CG

I FAR

Section, Township, Range 22/ 44/ 42

IMAX. 
COVER

Property Control Numbers 18- 42- 44- 22- 38- 002- 0000

0

Traffic Analysis Zone 333

150' 250' 

Total Site Area 250, 580 s. f. 5. 752 Acres

Total Gross Floor Area 55, 460 s. f. 

35' 

Ex. Retail 46, 200 s. f. 

20' 

Proposed Retail 7, 860 s. f. 

Proposed Fast Food 1, 400 s. f. 

CD

Total Floor Area Ratio . 22

Total Building Coverage 22% 

0

N
C) 

Including canopy 721 s. f.) 
Impervious Area 67% 

0

Buildings 55,586 s. f. 

280' 597' 

Pavement/ Walks 166, 687

Pervious Area 33% 

2 3— 3

Green Space 82, 211 s. f. 

86' 

Number of Seats max. 18

Building Height max. 35' 

Proposed Building Height max. 23'- 3" 

ONE

Number of Stories 1

Finish Grad Elevation from NGVD 18. 5

Parking Required 280 SPACES

Retail— 1 Space/ 200 S. f. @ 54,060 S. f. = 271

Fast Food— 1 Space/ 3 Interior Seats @ 18 Seats = 6

Outdoor Dining— 1 Space/ 3 Seats @ 9 Seats Max = 3

Proposed Parking 280 SPACES

foil

Ln

Handicap Spaces Required 6

Handicap Spaces Proposed 12

If

10' 

Loading Required ( 15' x 55' Min.) 1

Loading Provided 2

ElI CG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

4 1. 4

I MINIMUM LOT DIMENSIONS I MAX. MINIMUM BLDG MAX. BLDG. SETBACKS SEPARATIONS

FRONT REAR1:
11ZONING

DISTRICT I SIZE' 1WIDTH I DEPTH I FAR PERU. AREA

IMAX. 
COVER HEIGHT

0

1. 0
CG AC. 150' 250' 30 35% 35' 50' 15' 20' 25' 

9595 N. KENDALL DRIVE SUITE 101

CD

MIAMI, FLORIDA 33176
305) 596- 3800

0

N
C) 

Alk

Ar
MAX. 35' HT. 

0
5. 752

CG AC. 280' 597' 22 22% 2 3— 3 7630 86' 58. 5' 

191 S. f. 
0 ONE

C:) 

J N

evelopment i eam

OF

D

Dunkin N
4 1. 4

DEVELOPER: SOUTHEAST PROPERTIES
1645 SE 3RD COURT # 200
DEERFIELD BEACH, FLORIDA 33441
561) 627- 6222

SURVEYOR: CONSUL—TECH Surveying & Mapping, Inc. 
3141 COMMERCE PARKWAY

ly? 

MIRAMAR, FLORIDA 33025. 

954) 438- 4300

0-) 

CIVIL/ TRAFFIC SIMMONS AND WHITE ENGINEERING

00
4 

ENGINEER: 5601 CORPORATE WAY, SUITE 200

W

WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33407
561) 478- 7848

ARCHITECT: EDWARD M. GHEZZI
9595 N. KENDALL DRIVE SUITE 101

CD

MIAMI, FLORIDA 33176
305) 596- 3800

R =61

BASE INFORMATION FOR THIS PROJECT WAS OBTAINED FROM A SURVEY
PREPARED BY CONSUL—TECH ENGINEERING BUTTONWOOD SURVEY. DWG

SUNDAY THROUGH ' TUESDAY HOURS OF OPERATION 7: 00 AM — 1: 00 AM

FRIDAY AND SATURDAY HOURS OF OPERATION 7: 00 AM — 1: 00 AM

FAR

1\3

D

Dunkin N
4 1. 4

3" - Pipe

Uonuts 23

X1 - X

f LL17400 S. L___ 

ly? 

76 0-) 

16 6 EATS

54' 

00
4 Lo

W

5) 

KFron

tback
Bike

CD Rack
0

N
C) 

Alk

Ar
MAX. 35' HT. 

Z

Dir Cti n

Total Canopys

Sign

C:) 

191 S. f. 
0 ONE

C:) 

1\ 3

35P. B. C. I - 
UTILITY EASEMENT

In
cls

Q 0 Sign

Mm

RECEIVED by

CITY OF GREENACRES

N0\ 1 1 6 2016

PLANNING & 
ENGINEERING

Jori E. Schmidt and Associates
Landscape Architecture & Site Planning
2247 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.- Suite 101

West Palm Beach, Florida 33409

Tel. ( 561) 684- 6141 ® Fax. ( 561) 684- 6142

E- mail: Jschr- riidt@jesla. com

License No.: LC26000232

Date: 8/ 15/ 05

Scale: 1" = 20'- 0" 

Design By: JES

Drawn By: J ES

Checked By: Jes

File No. 412. 01

Job No. 05- 23

REVISIONS / SUBMISSIONS

6/ 19/ 06 Staff Review

8/ 31106 DRC Comments

9/ 12/ 06 Review Comments

1 / 03/ 14 Revised F– o– of—priFf

I1107/ 16 Drive Through Rev

D

Dunkin N
4 1. 4

3" - Pipe

Uonuts 23
Bumpers

f LL17400 S. L___ 

Co
y) 

16 6 EATS

54' 

00
4 Lo 5) 

h)Retail
1, 560 s. f. M00

Alk

Ar
MAX. 35' HT. 

0

Total Canopys
C:) 

191 S. f. 
0 ONE

C:) 

J N

foil

Ln

fimm rum

W 1 8. 0
If

10' 
1111111111' 

11' 
00 b' 

35P. B. C. I - 
UTILITY EASEMENT

In
cls

Q 0 Sign

Mm

RECEIVED by

CITY OF GREENACRES

N0\ 1 1 6 2016

PLANNING & 
ENGINEERING

Jori E. Schmidt and Associates
Landscape Architecture & Site Planning

2247 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.- Suite 101

West Palm Beach, Florida 33409

Tel. ( 561) 684- 6141 ® Fax. ( 561) 684- 6142

E- mail: Jschr- riidt@jesla. com

License No.: LC26000232

Date: 8/ 15/ 05

Scale: 1" = 20'- 0" 

Design By: JES

Drawn By: J ES

Checked By: Jes

File No. 412. 01

Job No. 05- 23

REVISIONS / SUBMISSIONS

6/ 19/ 06 Staff Review

8/ 31106 DRC Comments

9/ 12/ 06 Review Comments

1 / 03/ 14 Revised F– o– of— priFf

I1107/ 16 Drive Through Rev



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-08 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREENACRES, FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE FY 
2016-2017 INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN PALM BEACH COUNTY 
AND THE CITY OF GREENACRES FOR THE FULL REIMBURSEMENT OF 
EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES GRANT EQUIPMENT IN THE AMOUNT 
OF $21,478.00; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS, Section 163.01, Florida Statutes, known as the “Florida Interlocal 

Cooperation Act of 1969” authorizes local governments to make the most efficient use of 

their powers by enabling them to cooperate with the localities on a basis of mutual advantage 

and thereby to provide services and facilities that will harmonize geographic, economic, 

population, and other factors influencing the needs and development of local communities; 

and 

WHEREAS, Part 1 of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, permits public agencies as 

defined therein to enter into Interlocal Agreements with each other to jointly exercise any 

power, privilege, or authority which such agencies share in common and which each might 

exercise separately; and 

WHEREAS, the Department of Health, Bureau of Emergency Medical Services 

(DOHEMS) is authorized by Chapter 401, Part II, Florida Statutes, to dispense grant funds. 

Forty-five percent (45%) of these funds are made available to the sixty seven (67) Boards of 

County Commissioners (BCC) throughout the State to improve and expand pre-hospital 

Emergency Medical Services (EMS) in their county; and 

WHEREAS, DOHEMS County grants are only awarded to Boards of County 

Commissioners (BCC), however, each BCC is encouraged to assess its countywide EMS 

needs and establish priorities before submitting a grant application; and 



Resolution No. 2017-08                                                                                               Page 2 

WHEREAS, the COUNTY agrees to fully reimburse the CITY from its FY 2016-2017 

EMS State Grant funds for the purchase of one (1) Lucas Cardiac Compression device and 

six (6) King Vision Video Laryngoscopes and the CITY agrees to accept said full 

reimbursement under the terms and conditions of the EMS State Grant and this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREENACRES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1.  The City Council grants authorization for the execution of the FY 2016-

2017 Interlocal Agreement between Palm Beach County and the City of Greenacres for the 

full reimbursement of Emergency Medical Services Grant Equipment in the amount of 

$21,478.00 attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

Section 2. That the appropriate City officials are hereby authorized to execute all 

necessary documents required to effectuate the terms of the agreement. 

Section 3. This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Resolution No. 2017-08                                                                                               Page 3 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED this  6th day of March, 2017. 

Voted 
 
 
           ( ) 
Samuel J. Ferreri     Jonathan G. Pearce 
Mayor       Deputy Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
           ( ) 
Joanna Cunningham    Lisa Rivera 
City Clerk      Councilwoman, District I 
 
 
 

          ( ) 
      Peter Noble 

       Councilman, District II 
 
 
 
           ( ) 

      Judith Dugo 
       Councilwoman, District III 
 
 
 
           ( ) 
       Paula Bousquet 
       Councilwoman, District V 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Legal Sufficiency: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James D. Stokes 
City Attorney 






	001 03 06 2017 Agenda
	CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA
	AGENDA
	City Council Meeting
	Monday, March 6, 2017 – 7:00 p.m.
	City Hall Council Chambers
	5800 Melaleuca Lane
	Mayor and City Council
	Administration
	Andrea McCue, City Manager
	Joanna Cunningham, City Clerk
	Agenda
	City Council Meeting
	Monday, March 6, 2017 - 7:00 p.m.




	5.A.1 Proc-Public Procurement Recognition Month - March
	5.A.2 Proc-Problem Gambling Awareness Month-March
	6.A.1 02-06-17 Council Minutes-Draft
	6.A.2.1 Res. 2017-01 AB-16-02 Sketch and Descriptions
	R2
	R1

	6.A.2.2 Res. 2017-01 AB-16-02 River Bridge Center Ross Expansion
	6.A.2.3.Res. 2017-01 AB-16-02 DRAWINGS
	6.A.2.4 Res. 2017-01 AB-16-02 Riverbridge Cover Memo
	6.A.3 2017-05 FACC 45th Anniversary
	7.A.1 Ord. 2017-02 ZTA-16-04 Sign Code
	7.A.2 Ord. 2017-02 ZTA-16-04 Cover Memo 1
	7.A.3 Ord. 2017-02  ZTA-16-04 Staff Report (Sign Regulations)
	7.B.1 Ord. 2017-04 CPA-16-03 CIE Update
	7.B.2 Ord. 2017-04 CPA-16-03 Cover Memo 1
	7.B.3 Ord. 2017-04 CPA-16-03 staff report
	7.B.4 Ord. 2017-04 CPA-16-03 CIE Update Exhibit B
	7.C.1 Res. 2017-07 SE-16-03 RaceTrac Market
	7.C.2 Res. 2917-07 SE-16-03 Race Trac Cover Memo
	7.C.3 Res. 2017-07 SE-16-03_RaceTrac Market Staff Report
	7.C.4 Res. 2017-07 SE-16-03 Racetrac Market DRAWINGS
	racetrac 1
	racetrac 2
	racetrac 3

	7.D.1 SP-16-02 RaceTrac Market Cover Memo
	7.D.2 SP-16-02 Racetrac Market DRAWINGS
	r1
	r2
	r3
	r4
	r5
	r6

	7.D.3 SP-16-02  Racetrac Aerial
	7.D.4 SP-16-02_RaceTrac Market  Staff Report
	7.E.1 SP-84-05G Aerial Dunkin Donuts Buttonwood Plaza
	7.E.2 SP-84-05G Cover Memo Buttonwood Plaza (Dunkin Donuts)
	7.E.3 SP-84-05G Buttonwood Plaza Staff Report
	7.E.4 SP-84-05G Dunkin Donuts Buttonwood Plaza.pptx
	SP-1 of 3 SITE PLAN
	SP-2 of 3 SITE PLAN
	SP-3 of 3 SITE PLAN

	7.F.1 Res 2017-08 Interlocal Agreement EMS
	7.F.2 MEMO 2017-08 EMS GRANT PROGRAM

